

## UNIVERSITÀ DI SIENA 1240

### DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOTECHNOLOGIES DOCTORATE RESEARCH IN MEDICAL BIOTECHNOLOGIES Cycle XXXVI Coordinator: Professor Francesco Iannelli

### "EBV and KSHV provide anti-apoptotic advantages to Primary Effusion Lymphoma (PEL)"

*Supervisor* Professor Lorenzo Leoncini Siena, IT Candidate:

Salvatore Tornambè Siena, IT Madison, USA

**Co-supervisor** Professor Bill Sugden UW-Madison, USA

Academic year: 2023/24

#### **Table of Contents**

Abstract9
CHAPTER I
Background and Introduction
Primary Effusion Lymphoma (PEL)12
EBV and KSHV can contribute to the survival of their associated tumors
Prelude to my studies
CHAPTER II
Materials and methods
Cells and culture conditions 32
Growth curve 32
Small molecule inhibitor, cell viability assay and apoptosis
Transfection
Western blot
Synthesis of MMLV retroviral/lentiviral particles
Retroviral transduction
Cell sorting
RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis
RT-qPCR
dCas9-KRAB system (CRISPRi)
Statistics
CHAPTER III
Characterizing anti-apoptotic pathways in PELs and PEL-LCs
Introduction

Results	47
Screening small-molecule inhibitors targeting diverse apoptotic molecules	47
MCL-1 inhibitor induces apoptosis in PELs	47
Expression of MCL1 in PEL and PEL-LC cell lines	48
Characterizing anti-apoptotic pathway in PEL-LCs	49
Expression of BCL2A1 in PEL and PEL-LC cell lines	50
Discussion	65
CHAPTER IV	67
Assessing the roles of antiapoptotic proteins detected in Chapter III in PELs and PEL-L	Cs. 67
Introduction	68
Results	70
The constitutive, exogenous expression of BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PELs	70
CRISPRi approach for targeting BCL2A1 in PEL-LCs and MCL1 in PELs	70
Discussion	79
CHAPTER V	82
Discussion and future directions	82
References	87

### List of figures

Figure I.1 Schematic of Kaposi Sarcoma-Associated Herpes Virus genome21
Figure I.2 Schematic of Epstein Barr virus genome23
Figure I.3 EBV Latency types and gene expression25
Figure I.4 Morphology and phenotype of PEL27
Figure I.5 Extrinsic and Intrinsic pathway of apoptosis29
Figure III.1 Effects of AZD-5991 (MCL-1 inhibitor) on the growth of lymphoma cell lines53
Figure III.2 AZD-5991 (MCL1 inhibitor) effects on the growth and induction of apoptosis in
PELs55
Figure III.3 Expression levels of MCL-1 in PELs and PEL-LCs
Figure III.4 Effects of ABT-263 (BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w) on the growth of PELs and PEL-
LCs
Figure III.5 Expression levels of BCL2A1 in PELs and PEL-LCs61
Figure III.6 Expression levels of viral genes in PELs and PEL-LCs
Figure IV.1 The constitutive, exogenous expression of BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PEL
cells72
Figure IV.2 Difference between CRISPR/Cas9 and CRISPRi75
Figure IV.3 Downregulation BCL2A1 in PEL-LC and MCL-1 in PEL77
List of tables
Table II.1 Antibodies used for proteins detection via western blot40
Table II.2 Primers and probes used for detection of mRNAs via RT-qPCR41
Table II.3 Oligos sequences for CRISPRi42
Table III.1 Preliminary screening to distinguish PEL-LCs from PELs

#### List of abbreviations

°C: Celsius degree

AIDS: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome

Apaf-1: Apoptotic protease activating factor 1

ATP: Adenosine triphosphate

B-CLLs: B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemias

BAK: Bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer

BARTs: BAMHI-A rightforward transcripts

BAX: Bcl-2 associated X protein

BCBL-1: Body Cavity Based Lymphoma-1

BCL2A1: BCL2-related protein A1

BCR: B-cell antigen receptor complex

Bfl-1: Bcl-2 related gene expressed in fetal liver

BH: BCL-2 homology regions

BID: Protein BH3 interacting-domain death agonist

**BL: Burkitt Lymphoma** 

Cas9: CRISPR-associated protein 9

cDNA: Complementary DNA

CO<sub>2</sub>: Carbon dioxide

Cp: C promoter

CRISPR: Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats

CRISPR/CasRx: Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats / RfxCas13d

CRISPRi: CRISPR interference

Ct: Cycle threshold

Cyto C: Cytochrome C

D10F: DMEM 10% FBS

dCas9: Deactivated CRISPR-associated protein 9

DISC: Death-inducing signaling complex

DLBCL: Diffuse Large B-cell lymphoma

DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

DMSO: Dimethyl sulfoxide

DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid

dnEBNA1: Dominant negative EBNA1

EBERs: EBV-encoded small RNAs

EBNA-LP: EBN nuclear antigen-leader protein

EBNA1: EBV nuclear antigen 1

EBNA2: EBV nuclear antigen 2

EBNA3A: EBV nuclear antigen 3A

EBNA3B: EBV nuclear antigen 3B

EBNA3C: EBV nuclear antigen 3C

**EBV: Epstein-Barr Virus** 

ECL: Enhanced chemiluminescence

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EGTA: Ethylene glycol-bis( $\beta$ -aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid

FAM: Fluorescein amidite

FBS: Fetal bovine serum

g: Gravity

GC: Gastric Cancer

H&E: Hematoxylin eosin

H3K9: Histone H3 lysine 9

HHV4: Human Herrpesvirus-4

HHV8: Human Herpesvirus-8

HL: Hodgkin lymphoma (

IABkFQ: Iowa Black FQ quencher

IC<sub>50</sub>: Concentration required to inhibit half of the maximum biological response of the drug

Kb: kilobase

KRAB: Krüppel associated box

KS: Kaposi's Sarcoma

KSHV: Kaposi Sarcoma-Associated Herpes Virus

LANA1: Latency-associated nuclear antigen 1

LANA2: Latency-associated nuclear antigen 2

LCLs: Lymphoblastoid cell lines

LMP1: Latent membrane protein 1

LMP2A: Latent membrane protein 2A

LMP2B: Latent membrane protein 2B

mA: Milliampere

MCD: Multicentric Castleman's Disease

MCL-1: Myeloid Leukemia Cell Differentiation

min: Minute

miRNAs: MicroRNA

ml: Milliliter

mM: Millimolar

MMLV: Murine leukemia viruses

NaCl: Sodium chloride

NF-kB: Nuclear factor-kappaB

NK: Natural killer

NPC: Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma

ORF: Open reading frame

oriLyt: Origin of lytic replication

oriP: Origin of plasmid replication

PBS: Phosphate buffer saline

PEG: Polyethylene Glycol – 8000

PEL-LCs: PEL-like cells

PEL: Primary Effusion Lymphoma

PTLD: Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease

Qp: Q promoter

R10F: RPMI 10% FBS

rcf: Relative centrifugal field

RFP: Red fluorescent protein

**RHO: Rhodopsin** 

RIPA: Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer

**RLUs: Relative lights units** 

RNA: Ribonucleic acid

**RPM:** Revolutions per minute

RPMI: Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium

RT-qPCR: Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

**RT:** Reverse transcription

SDO: Sodium deoxycholate

SDS-PAGE: Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SDS: Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate

sgRNA: Single guide RNA

shRNA: Small hairpin RNA

siRNA: Short interfering RNA

TAM: Carboxytetramethylrhodamine

tBID: Truncated BID

TBS: Tris-buffered saline

TBST: Tris-buffered saline (TBS) with 0.1% Tween 20

Tris: Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane

TSS: Transcription start site

vFLIP: Viral Fas-associated protein with death domain-like interleukin-1β-converting

enzyme/caspase-8-inhibitory protein

VSV: Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein

Wp: W promoter

µg: Microgram

μl: Microliter

#### Abstract

This study investigated similarities between primary effusion lymphomas (PELs) and PEL-like cells (PEL-LCs). PEL-LCs represent an *in vitro* transformation of peripheral B cells by both KSHV and EBV, presenting an opportunity for a detailed mechanistic analysis of the viral and cellular genes that orchestrate the initial stages of the progression toward PEL. The study revealed a crucial dependency of both dually (EBV and KSHV) and KSHV-only infected PELs on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein for their survival, aligning with previously reported findings. Notably, inhibiting MCL-1 with a small molecule inhibitor led to cell death in PELs but not in PEL-LCs. Further scrutiny through mRNA and immunoblotting analyses uncovered that PEL-LCs transcribe MCL-1 mRNA without detectable translation into proteins, prompting an exploration into the identity of the antiapoptotic protein supporting the survival of PEL-LCs. The findings identified BCL2A1 as the antiapoptotic protein that is upregulated in PEL-LCs compared to PELs and underscore the potential significance of BCL2A1 in PEL pathogenesis, with PELs showing enhanced survival with BCL2A1 ectopic-expression following the inhibition of MCL-1.

This study identifies BCL2A1 as a potential mediator of the resistance of PEL-LCs and implicates two EBV genes, EBNA3A and LMP1, in regulating BCL2A1 expression, providing a survival advantage to PEL-LCs. Experiments with CRISPRi-mediated knockdown of MCL-1 or BCL2A1, in PELs and PEL-LCs respectively, did not result in significant downregulation compared to the rhodopsin control, raising challenges in establishing a control for an unequivocal interpretation. The complex interplay between EBV genes and BCL2A1 regulation adds layers of complexity to the apoptotic regulatory network in PEL. This study sets the foundation for further investigations into the dual infection of KSHV and EBV in PEL, shedding light on the distinct contributions of each virus to tumor survival and proliferation.

# CHAPTER I.

## Background and Introduction

Infectious agents are responsible for around 2.2 million cancer cases annually [1], contributing to roughly 15% of all human cancers worldwide [1-4]. The majority of these malignancies are induced by tumor viruses. One such oncogenic virus is the Kaposi Sarcoma-Associated Herpes Virus (KSHV), also known as Human Herpesvirus-8 (HHV8), possessing a double-stranded DNA genome of approximately 138 kb [Figure I.1] [5]. Initially isolated from Kaposi's Sarcoma (KS) lesions, a soft tissue tumor affecting endothelial and lymphatic cells, in a patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) [1], KSHV has been linked to other conditions, such as Primary Effusion Lymphoma (PEL), a lymphoma affecting body cavities, and Multicentric Castleman's Disease (MCD), a non-malignant lymphoproliferative disorder [6-9]. Similar to other herpesviruses, KSHV has two distinct phases in its life cycle: a lytic phase characterized by the regulated expression of immediate-early, early, and late viral genes, resulting in the production of infectious virions, and a latent phase where a multicopy plasmid persists in host cells, accompanied by the expression of a small subset of viral genes. In KS, PEL and MCD, KSHV primarily exists in its latent form within proliferating cells, with only a variable subset of tumor cells supporting lytic replication [10-14].

KSHV's closest human relative is Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), formerly known as Human Herrpesvirus-4 (HHV4), which belongs to the herpesvirus family with a double-stranded DNA genome of around 165kb [Figure I.2] [15]. Notably, EBV holds the distinction of being the first human tumor virus, discovered in 1964. Over more than 55 years of research, compelling evidence has shown that EBV is responsible for the development of tumors. Nowadays, we know EBV is associated with both lymphoid tumors, including Burkitt Lymphoma (BL), Diffuse Large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), NK/T lymphomas, and Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), and epithelial tumors, such as Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma (NPC) and Gastric Cancer (GC) [16]. In EBV-associated tumors, the virus establishes a latent infection marked by the restricted expression of specific viral latent genes. The distinct expression patterns of these latent genes give rise to three unique latency programs, each associated with a particular tumor type [Figure I.3] [17]. The Latency III pattern involves the expression of EBV-encoded small RNAs (EBERs) and BAMHI-A rightforward transcripts (BARTs) along with all EBV latent proteins, including the six nuclear antigens (EBNA1, EBNA2, EBNA3A, EBNA3B, EBNA3C, and EBNA-LP) and three latent membrane proteins (LMP1, LMP2A, and LMP2B). This pattern is characteristic of lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) and PTLD. The Latency II pattern includes the expression of EBERs, BARTs transcripts, EBNA1 protein, and the latent membrane proteins (LMP1, LMP2A, and LMP2B). It is associated with HL and NPC. Finally, the Latency I pattern is found in BL and GC and is characterized by the expression of both transcripts, EBERs and BARTs, and the EBNA1 protein. While B cells can support any of these three types of latent infection, non-B cells typically exhibit either a Latency I or Latency II type of infection [18]. While EBV infects approximately 90% of the global population [19], KSHV infects a smaller proportion of people with the highest seroprevalence found in Sub-Saharan Africa [20].

#### **Primary Effusion Lymphoma (PEL)**

PEL is an exceptionally aggressive type of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, predominantly observed in immunocompromised individuals living with Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and patients receiving organ transplants [21]. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma may arise in lymph nodes anywhere in the body, whereas Hodgkin lymphoma typically begins in the upper body, such as the neck, chest or armpits. PEL typically manifests as serous effusions without detectable masses and predominantly develops within body cavities, most commonly in pleural, pericardial and peritoneal cavities. Typically, only a single body cavity is involved [22, 23]. Histologically, lymphoma cells usually exhibit CD45 expression, but they do not display pan-B-cell markers including CD19, CD20, and CD79a (B-cell antigen receptor complex-associated protein alpha chain, BCR) [21, 24]. Structural changes in the MYC gene, an oncogene affecting proliferation or apoptosis [25], are absent, yet MYC protein regulation is disrupted owing to the influence of latent proteins encoded by HHV8 [26]. Unfortunately, the prognosis for patients is poor, as the median survival period post-diagnosis is approximately six months [21, 27]. Rare cases have shown positive responses to chemotherapy and/or immune modulation [28]. Additionally, it is believed that PELs arise at advanced stages of B-cell differentiation or activation [21].

PELs are causally associated with KSHV and 80% of them are also co-infected with EBV [7, 8, 21,24, 27, 29] and gene expression profiling of AIDS-related PEL shows a distinct profile, with features of both plasma cells and EBV-transformed lymphoblastoid cell lines [30]. The maintenance of KSHV and EBV genomes as extrachromosomal plasmids in PEL indicates that both viruses contribute to tumor phenotypes, as these viral genomes are lost from actively dividing cells unless they confer specific advantages to their host [31-33]. PEL, therefore, represents a unique tumor type, being the sole known example of a tumor dependent on the presence of two oncogenic viruses.

Primary infection with KSHV is not well characterized, partly due to its lower infection rate. While cells of endothelial and fibroblast origin can be efficiently infected with KSHV *in vitro*, efforts to infect lymphoblastic cell lines have been unsuccessful [34-37]. Even when lymphoblastic cells can be infected, KSHV has not been observed to induce transformation. Notably, in these studies, neither EBV-negative nor EBV-positive cell lines could be infected. In contrast, EBV is capable of infecting and transforming peripheral B cells *in vitro*, promoting their long-term proliferation [38, 39]. Recently, Faure and colleagues demonstrated that EBV facilitates the infection of peripheral B cells with KSHV, with optimal efficiency achieved within 24 hours of EBV infection. They characterized the dually infected proliferating cells, which are transformed and capable of maintaining both KSHV and EBV for years in culture [40]. The *in vitro* transformation of peripheral B cells by both KSHV and EBV presents an opportunity for a detailed mechanistic analysis of the viral and cellular genes that orchestrate the initial stages of the progression towards PEL.

#### EBV and KSHV can contribute to the survival of their associated tumors

While it is widely accepted that the genesis and sustained viability of PELs is primarily propelled by the latent genes of KSHV, an intriguing observation emerged from Mack and colleagues. When they attempted to evict EBV using a dominant negative EBNA1 (dnEBNA1), which competes and inhibits the binding of EBNA1, a viral protein essential for EBV's plasmid replication, from dually infected PELs, the cells failed to grow in colony-forming assay under limiting dilution supporting the notion that EBV is necessary to sustain proliferation [41]. However, the idea that PEL is caused by KSHV finds reinforcement in observations showing that the inhibition of latent KSHV genes leads to either the death or growth arrest of the PEL cells [42, 43]. Furthermore, efforts to establish PEL cell lines lacking latent KSHV genomes have not been successful [44], underscoring that the latent genomes provide survival factors to the PELs. In accordance with these findings, it is worth noting that the latent genes of KSHV have all demonstrated oncogenic properties. This subset of genes, located within an approximately 10kb locus referred to as the latency locus, includes a latency-associated nuclear antigen (LANA1) encoded by Orf73, a viral cyclin D homolog (v-Cyclin) encoded by Orf72, a viral Fas-associated protein with death domain-like interleukin-1β-converting enzyme/caspase-8-inhibitory protein (vFLIP) encoded by Orf71, Kaposin proteins and all the currently known microRNA (miRNAs) of KSHV. Genes in this subset are the only ones expressed in latently infected cells of KS while latently infected PEL cells may also express an additional gene LANA2 (v-IRF3/ORF K10.5), which is strictly expressed during the lytic phase in KS [45].

Understanding the significance of dual infection and the distinct roles each virus plays in the tumorigenesis of this lymphoma has presented a complex challenge. Several latent KSHV genes have been identified as direct inhibitors of apoptosis in PEL cells. Apoptosis is a highly regulated process that plays a crucial role in eliminating unnecessary, damaged or infected cells throughout an organism's lifespan, thereby ensuring cellular homeostasis. This regulation hinges on a delicate equilibrium between proapoptotic and antiapoptotic regulators of apoptotic pathways, orchestrating the survival of cells in various tissues. When this balance is disrupted, as seen in diseases like cancer, where antiapoptotic proteins are overexpressed, it confers certain cells a selective survival advantage that fosters malignancy [46]. Apoptosis can be initiated via two main pathways: the extrinsic pathway, involving the activation of death receptors, and the cell-intrinsic pathway, triggered by various forms of cellular stress. In the cell-intrinsic pathway, signals for apoptosis converge on mitochondria leading to the release of cytochrome C (Cyto C) into the cytosol. This, in turn, activates caspases, ultimately resulting in cell death [47]. Central to this intrinsic apoptotic pathway are the Bcl-2 family members, which play an essential role in regulating the release of Cyto C from mitochondria, as an initiator of cell death [Figure I.4].

Among latent KSHV genes, v-FLIP and LANA2 were found to be required for survival in PEL cells. V-FLIP prevents death receptor-mediated apoptosis by inhibiting caspase activation

[48,49]. Additionally, V-FLIP has been shown to activate nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kB) and when v-FLIP is depleted using short interfering RNA (siRNA), it results in the induction of apoptosis in PEL cells [42]. LANA2, another documented anti-apoptotic KSHV gene expressed during latency, interacts with p53 and hinders p53-mediated apoptosis [50, 51]. Furthermore, when LANA2 expression is partially reduced using siRNA, it leads to decreased proliferation of PEL cells and an increase in caspase 3/7 activity [52]. LANA1 and KSHV miR-K10a have also been shown to inhibit apoptosis [53-56]. However, the direct contribution of LANA1's antiapoptotic role to PEL remains uncertain. Notably, when expression of LANA1 is inhibited using small hairpin RNA (shRNA) in PEL cells, it results in a gradual decrease of KSHV genomes, accompanied by growth inhibition or apoptosis, which varies depending on the PEL cell lines used [43]. It's plausible that the observed effect on apoptosis may stem from the loss of the other viral genes due to the reduction in KSHV genomes.

The contributions of EBV to the maintenance of PELs likely mirror its role in canonical BLs. As mentioned earlier, newly EBV-infected B cells, lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs), and certain EBV-positive lymphoproliferative disorders exhibit type III latency of EBV [57, 58]. BLs and dually infected PELs, on the other hand, display a restricted type I latency of EBV [59-62]. Numerous EBV genes, including those expressed in PEL cells, have been implicated in having anti-apoptotic functions. EBNA1 has been shown to prevent apoptosis in EBV-positive cells by destabilizing tumor suppressor p53 protein (reviewed in [63]). However, the significance of these antiapoptotic functions in the context of EBV-positive tumors is not clear since the majority of EBV-positive cells are known to undergo apoptosis mediated by p53 upon the induction of DNA damage [64]. A more convincing antiapoptotic gene of EBV expressed in PELs is the cluster of BART miRNAs. Canonical B cells die by apoptosis upon the forced eviction

of EBV genomes from them, but the introduction of BART miRNAs alone can rescue EBVnegative cells from apoptosis by inhibiting the pro-apoptotic caspase 3 transcript [65]. Within the BHRF1 locus, three miRNAs and one protein are encoded. The specific functions of the miRNAs within this locus are not well understood, but the protein encoded by this locus is a viral homolog of the cellular anti-apoptotic gene and proto-oncogene BCL2 [66]. Nevertheless, this protein is not expressed in a majority of BL cells and is only variably expressed in PELs, which casts uncertainty on its potential role in PEL maintenance.

As mentioned earlier, the in vitro transformation of peripheral B cells by both KSHV and EBV, as demonstrated by Faure et colleagues, provides a unique opportunity for a detailed mechanistic analysis of the viral and cellular genes orchestrating the initial stages of progression towards PEL. These newly EBV-KSHV infected B cells, referred to as PEL-like cells (PEL-LCs), undergo transformation and retain both KSHV and EBV in culture. PEL-LCs exhibit type III latency of EBV, whereas PELs typically exhibit type I latency. Most viral genes expressed in latency III are known to promote survival and proliferation. EBV promotes the proliferation of infected B cells directly through LMP1, which mimics CD40 and also supports the survival of BCR-negative B cells via signaling mediated by LMP2A [67]. In experiments conducted by Pratt and colleagues, the introduction of LMP1 into EBV-positive and EBVnegative cell lines showed a direct correlation with increased levels of the antiapoptotic protein BCL2A1 and LMP1 [68]. Conversely, when two EBV-negative epithelial cell lines were transfected with increasing amounts of a vector encoding LMP1, *Bcl2a1* was not detected by RT-qPCR [68]. Price and collogues employed both wild-type (WT) EBV and a strain of EBV lacking EBNA3A ( $\Delta$ EBNA3A) to infect and transform B cells (LCLs). Cells infected with  $\Delta$ EBNA3A exhibited sensitivity to ABT-737, an inhibitor for antiapoptotic proteins BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w, in contrast to WT EBV-infected cells, a phenotype rescued when they expressed ectopically EBNA3A [69]. EBNA3A and 3C, expressed in some malignancies, downregulate the expression of proapoptotic tumor suppressor Bim coordinately and can confer resistance to cytotoxic drugs including nocodozole, cisplatin and roscovitine [70]. A truncated form of EBNA-LP, found in some tumor lines, has been shown to protect cells against apoptosis induced by verotoxin 1 or staurosporine [71].

Given these observations, it is likely that EBV infection is a prerequisite for initiating and maintaining B cell proliferation, while KSHV contributes to later stages of the transformation process and/or the maintenance of PELs post-transformation. If EBV is a prerequisite for B cell transformation, then what triggers the transformation of EBV-negative PELs? One explanation for these lymphomas is the "hit-and-run" model, where EBV initially transforms B cells, but the tumor cells gradually become less dependent on EBV. There is evidence supporting this theory. Firstly, while KSHV is present in nearly every cell of all PELs, the presence of EBV varies between 50-90% of the cells (unpublished data) in dually positive PELs, suggesting that the cells within a PEL population exhibit varying degrees of dependence on EBV. Some may even become entirely independent of EBV's contributions. Secondly, there is precedent for EBV-associated tumors to evolve to be less dependent or entirely independent of EBV. The extent of the tumor's reliance on EBV is inversely correlated with the number of viral genes expressed in the tumors [32]. Some tumors with EBV's latency type I, including PELs, such as canonical BLs show minimal defects in survival and growth when EBV genomes are evicted from them [32,72]. For instance, the Akata tumor cell lines, not only can survive upon forced eviction of EBV genomes in the absence of complementation with exogenous anti-apoptotic genes [72] but can even spontaneously lose EBV in culture [73]. Given that PELs also contain KSHV, which expresses a variety of potential oncogenic genes of its own, it is quite possible that some PELs evolve to be independent of EBV at some frequency.

Alternatively, it is also possible that the origin of EBV-negative PELs differs from the EBVdependent origin of dually positive PELs.

#### Prelude to my studies

The presence of KSHV plasmids in nearly 100% of tumor cells suggests that they confer a selective advantage to the host cells. The advantages are likely related to cell proliferation and the prevention of apoptosis. This likelihood is consistent with the known properties of the latent genes encoded by KSHV, which have demonstrated both proliferative and antiapoptotic effects. While KSHV can efficiently infect endothelial and fibroblast cells *in vitro*, attempts to infect lymphoblastic cell lines have been unsuccessful. In contrast, EBV is capable of infecting and transforming peripheral B cells *in vitro*, promoting their long-term proliferation. EBV and KSHV co-transform about 1 - 2% of primary B cells to yield PEL-LCs. This study aims to elucidate the specific contributions of each virus to the characteristics of PEL-LCs.

In Chapter III of my work, I investigated whether PELs and PEL-LCs share similar properties. My findings showed that both dually and KSHV-only infected PELs rely on the antiapoptotic Myeloid Leukemia Cell Differentiation (MCL-1) protein for their survival, in agreement with previous reports [74, 75]. Inhibiting MCL-1 with a small molecule inhibitor [76] results in cell death in PELs but not PEL-LCs. Furthermore, my mRNA and immunoblotting analyses revealed that PEL-LCs transcribe MCL-1 mRNA but do not translate it detectably into proteins. This raises the question of which antiapoptotic protein is responsible for the survival of PEL-LCs. Given that various EBV genes expressed in PEL-LCs are associated with anti-apoptotic functions, I speculate that one or more EBV proteins expressed in latency III play a vital role in their survival.

In Chapter IV, I explored the role of antiapoptotic proteins expressed in both PELs and PEL-LCs, as identified in Chapter III, in regulating the survival of the cells that express them. My findings indicate that PEL-LCs primarily rely on BCL2A1 for their survival. Moreover, I hypothesized that this antiapoptotic advantage could be conferred by the latent EBV proteins, LMP1 or EBNA3A, which might mirror one of the contributions of EBV during the initial steps of infection and transformation in PEL.

#### Figure I.1 Expression levels of viral genes in PELs and PEL-LCs

Genes highlighted in yellow are orthologs of host genes (*i.e.* they likely originated in the host genome, but the virus has adapted them for its own use). KSHV encodes 87 open reading frames (ORFs) and at least 17 microRNAs (purple boxes), 14 of which are co-expressed as a cluster. A striking feature of KSHV is the number (at least 14) of ORFs that encode cellular orthologues. Identified ORFs and encoded proteins are indicated in the figure. Putative latent transcripts are indicated in green, and cellular orthologues in yellow. Kb = kilobase [figure modified from 77].



#### Figure I.2 Schematic of Epstein Barr virus genome

Letters on the inner edge of the circular genome denote BamHI digestion fragments. Cisacting elements within the genome, including the origin of plasmid replication (oriP), the two origins of lytic replication (oriLyt), and the terminal repeats formed when the linear genome is circularized, are denoted in blue squares. Lytic genes are shown in orange boxes. Coding exons for the latency genes are shown in green boxes. EBV latent mRNAs can be initiated from different promoters depending on latency type and time after infection: the W promoter (Wp), the C promoter (Cp), the Q promoter (Qp, only in latency I), and the LMP promoters are labeled. The unspliced pre-mRNAs driven from these promoters are shown as a dotted line. EBV-encoded noncoding RNAs, such as the miR-BHRF1 cluster, the miR-BART cluster, and the EBERs, are shown as red triangles. Kb = kilobase [figure modified from 78].



#### Figure I.3 EBV Latency types and gene expression

In EBV-associated tumors, the virus establishes a latent infection marked by the restricted expression of specific viral latent genes. The distinct expression patterns of these latent genes give rise to three unique latency programs, each associated with a particular tumor type. EBV-encoded small RNAs (EBERs) and BAMHI-A rightforward transcripts (BARTs), six nuclear antigens (EBNA1, EBNA2, EBNA3A, EBNA3B, EBNA3C, and EBNA-LP) and three latent membrane proteins (LMP1, LMP2A, and LMP2B). Lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs), Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), Nasopharingeal Carcinoma (NPC), Burkitt lymphoma (BL) and Gastric Cancer (GC) [78].

Figure I.	3
-----------	---

Latency type	Viral gene expressed	Associated disease
Latancy 0	EBERs, miR-BARTs	Burkitt's lymphoma
Latancy I	EBERs, miR-BARTs, EBNA1	Burkitt's lymphoma
Latancy II	EBERs, miR-BARTs, EBNA1, LMP1, LMP2A/B	Hodgkin's lymphoma, NPC, Gastric cancer
Latancy III	EBERs, miR-BHRF1s, miR-BARTS, EBNA1, EBNA-LP, EBNA2, EBNA3s, LMP1, LMP2A/B	AIDS-associated DLBCL, PTLD, LCL
Wp- restricted latency	EBERs, miR-BARTS, EBNA1, truncated-EBNA-LP, EBNA3s, BHRF1	Burkitt's lymphoma

Figure I.4 Morphology and phenotype of PEL

Morphologic examination of the pleural effusion showed abundant pleomorphic to anaplastic discohesive lymphoma cells (**A**), Diff-Quick stain. (**B**). H&E stained cell block. The lymphoma cells were positive for CD45 (**C**), MUM1 (**D**), HHV8 (**E**), Ki-67 (**F**), EBER (**G**), and monotypic Kappa by in situ hybridization (**H**,**I**). Original magnification ×500 [figure modified from 79].



#### Figure 1.5 Extrinsic and Intrinsic pathway of apoptosis

In the extrinsic pathway, death ligands bind to death receptors, clustering them on the cell surface and recruiting adaptor proteins to form the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). DISC assembly recruits procaspases, facilitating their autocatalytic activation. Once activated, they initiate the caspase cascade into the cytoplasm. Active caspase-8 also mediates the cleavage of proapoptotic protein BH3 interacting-domain death agonist (BID), which subsequently releases mitochondrial proapoptotic factors linking the two pathways. In the case of the intrinsic pathway, stress signal causes the binding of cytoplasmic proteins, bcl-2 associated X protein (BAX) and BID to the outer membrane of mitochondria. Another mitochondrial protein Bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer (BAK) interacts with BAX and BID causing the release of cytochrome c into the cytosol. This binds to apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) which then forms the apoptosome that triggers the activation of procaspase-9. Activated caspase-9 further initiates the caspase cascade, ultimately leading to apoptosis. Tumor suppressor p53 protein serves as a cellular stress sensor and plays a crucial role in initiating apoptosis by transcriptionally activating proapoptotic proteins such as BID and BAX [47, figure modified from 80].

#### Figure I.5



# CHAPTER II.

Materials and methods

#### Cells and culture conditions

The PEL-derived B cell lines used in this study include one cell line positive for KSHV (BCBL-1) and two cell lines dually positive for KSHV and EBV (JSC-1 and BC-1). Other cell lines used in this study are BJAB (Burkitt's lymphoma-derived cell line, negative for EBV), 721 (lymphoblastoid cell line, positive for EBV) and Jurkat (immortal human T lymphocytes), PTLD-1 (derived from post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder) and Oku-1 [1], Sav-1 [2], and AG876 (derived from Burkitt lymphomas) [3]. Adherent cells used in this study include 293T, expressing SV40 T-antigen to enhance plasmid replication with an SV40 origin. These cell lines were cultured in either Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Gibco) (adherent cells) or in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium (RPMI) (Gibco) (suspension cells), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Cytiva), 200 units/ml of penicillin and 200  $\mu$ g/ml of streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified 5% carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) atmosphere.

#### Growth curve

Cells were plated at a starting concentration of 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL in culture medium in a 12 multiwell plate and viable cells were counted every day for 14 days using a hemacytometer. To discriminate viable cells from non-viable ones, cells were stained with eosin yellow (with a 1:1 dilution of 0.1% eosin yellow dissolved in 1x PBS). When cells were confluent, they were diluted 1:20 and plated for further time points.

#### Small molecule inhibitor, cell viability assay and apoptosis

About  $1 \times 10^4$  cells (in 200 µl) were seeded in triplicate in 96-well flat-bottom microtiter plates. Cells were treated with various concentrations of Narciclasine (#SML2805, Sigma-

aldrich), Cytarabine (#S1648, Selleck), Abemaciclib (#LY2835219, Selleck), Palbociclib (#PD-0332991, Selleck), GSK682753A (#502260393, Fisher), NIBRI89 (#S0183, Selleck), saJM589 (#SML2198, Sigma), AZD-5991 (#28926, Cayman Chemical), ABT-263 (#A3007, APExBIO) and Camptothecin (#159732, MP Biomedicals). All drugs were resuspended in dimethyl sulfoxide solution (DMSO) and tested at a final concentration of 0.1% DMSO. Cell survival was determined with Cell Titer Glo (#G9242, Promega). The Cell Titer Glo determines the number of viable cells in a culture based on quantitation of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) present, which signals the presence of metabolically active cells, using light as a surrogate marker. Relative lights units (RLUs) were measured using the Victor X5 luminometer (PerkinElmer). The results are reported as the mean normalized RLUs of the DMSO-treated control cells. Apoptosis was measured with the Caspase 3/7 reagent (#G8090, Promega). The Caspase 3/7 assay measures activity by caspase cleavage of the substrate and generation of a "glow-type" luminescent signal, produced by luciferase. Relative lights units (RLUs) were measured using the Victor X5 luminometer (PerkinElmer). The results are reported as the mean normalized RLUs of the DMSO-treated control cells.

#### Transfection

293T cells were plated in 10 cm dishes and grown to about 70% confluency. For each dish, 10µg of a vector was diluted in 500 µl of Opti–Modified Eagle's Medium (MEM) (Gibco) and then combined with prediluted lipofectamine 2000 (#11668027, Invitrogen) Opti-MEM mixture (30µl of lipofectamine was diluted in 500 µl of Opti-MEM and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature). DNA – lipofectamine complexes were incubated for 25 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed once with DMEM and plated with 4 mL of DMEM and

1 mL of transfection mixture and incubated for 4 hours in air containing 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C. Following the incubation, the medium was replaced with 8 mL of fresh D10F. Cells were collected after 48 hours. The efficiency of transfection was determined by western blot or by percentage of fluorescent positive cells.

#### Western blot

Approximately 5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells were harvested, washed twice with PBS and resuspended in Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (10mM Tris (pH 8.0), 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 1 % Triton X-100, 0.1% Sodium deoxycholate (SDO), 0.1% SDS, 140mM NaCl, 1 X protease inhibitor cocktail). The cell suspension was sonicated using a Qsonica Q700 sonicator at 100 mA for at least 1 min and centrifuged at 20,000 rcf for 30 min, 4°C, and the supernatant was collected for immunoblotting. The collected supernatant was mixed at a 1:1 ratio with 2 X SDS sample buffer (0.12M Tris pH 6.8, 138.7mM (4%) SDS, 20% Glycerol, 0.3mM Bromophenol blue, 5% beta-mercaptoethanol). Approximately 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cell equivalents per sample per well were loaded onto an SDS-PAGE gel (#4569033, Bio-Rad), the gel was run, and the proteins were transferred to a 0.22µm nitrocellulose membrane (#10600006 Amersham, Cytiva). The membranes were blocked in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) (Gibco) with 0.1% Tween 20 (Fisher Scientific) (TBST) containing 5% (w/v) powdered milk and incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4°C (Table II.1). Following treatment with a primary antibody, the membranes were washed with 1 X Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) and incubated with the secondary antibody (Table II.1) for 1h at room temperature. All antibody dilutions were prepared in a 5% milk solution in TBST. Membranes were washed in TBST, developed using Pierce enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) western blotting substrate (#W1001, Promega) according to the manufacturer's protocol, and visualized using the ChemiDoc imaging system (Bio-Rad).

#### Synthesis of MMLV retroviral/lentiviral particles

293T cells were transfected with DNA-expressing retroviral proteins for synthesizing, packaging and releasing retroviral particles. Cells were split the day before transfection for a confluency of 80 - 90% ( ~ 5 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells per 10 cm plate). For transfection, cells were washed with serum-free DMEM (Gibco) and replenished with 4 ml of serum-free DMEM (Gibco) and stored at 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 37°C until transfection complexes were generated (  $\sim$  30 – 60 minutes). To generate retroviral-lipophilic complexes for transfecting a 10 cm plate of 293T cells, a mixture was prepared containing 10 µg of retroviral vector, 3 µg of Gag/polymerase (p2843), 1 µg of NFkB (p1238), 1 µg of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) glycoprotein (p2842) and 0.5 ml of Opti-MEM (Gibco). In the case of lentiviral vectors, the combination consisted of 10 µg of retroviral vector, 12 µg of psPAX.2, 4 µg of VSV glycoprotein (p2842) and 0.5 ml of Opti-Mem (Gibco). A second mixture containing 30 µl of Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) and 0.5 ml of Opti-Mem (Gibco) was prepared. Five minutes after each reaction mix was prepared, they were combined and incubated for at least 25 minutes at room temperature. The combined mixture was then carefully added dropwise on top of the previously prepared 293T cells containing 4 ml of DMEM. Four hours following transfection, the media was removed and replaced with 4 ml of DMEM 10% FBS (D10F) / 50mM Hepes. The medium was collected 24 and 48 hours posttransfection and stored at 4°C no longer than 1 day after the final collection. The medium was cleared of cellular debris by centrifugation (300rcf, 10 minutes) and filtered with a 50 ml syringe fitted with a 0.8-micron filter. Retroviral particles were concentrated by adding one
volume of supernatant and one volume of concentrator Polyethylene Glycol – 8000 (PEG) (#BP233-100, Fisher scientific) and sodium chloride (NaCl) solution. The concentrations of PEG-8000 and NaCl in the stock solutions are 20% (w/v) and 0.6 M, respectively. The mix was incubated with constant rocking at ~ 60 RPM overnight at 4°C. The samples were spun down at 1600rcf for 60 minutes, the supernatant removed and the retroviral particles resuspended in 1 ml (concentrated 1:20) of RPMI and stored at -80°C.

#### **Retroviral transduction**

B cells were resuspended and plated 5 x  $10^5$  in 800 µL of R10F in 6 well clusters and 200µl concentrated retrovirus was added to each well. Cells and viruses were centrifugated at 950g for 90 minutes at room temperature (spinoculation). Additional medium (1ml) was added to each well after 24 hours, and cells and virus were incubated for an additional 24 hours at 37 °C.

#### Cell sorting

Single cells were sorted on BD FACSAria "Jack" with standard settings of 20 psi pressure and a 130µm nozzle tip size. BCBL-1 and JSC-1 cells transduced with retroviral vectors were sorted for their levels of BCL2A1-mRFP by first selecting all mRFP-positive cells, then isolating single cells expressing the lowest 20% and the highest 20% levels of mRFP, were collected via FACS.

#### **RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis**

RNA was isolated using 500µl of TRIzol (#15596018, Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions (#R2062, Direct-zol RNA Microprep, Zymo research). In brief, an equal volume of ethanol (96 – 100%) was added to a sample lysed in TRIZOL and the solution was transferred into a Zymo-spin IC column and centrifuged at 16.000 g for 1 minute. After a wash with 400µl of RNA Wash Buffer, the column was treated with DNase I to remove contaminating DNA for 15 minutes at room temperature. The RNA was collected by adding 15µl of DNAse/RNase free water after two washes with 400µl of Direct-zol RNA Pre-Wash and one wash with 700µl of RNA wash buffer.

Around 500 ng of total RNA was reverse transcribed using a First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (#E6560, New England biolabs) following the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, template RNA was added to a mix containing random primers (final concentration of 3µM), ProtoScript II reaction Mix (1X), ProtoScript II enzyme mix (1X) and water to a final volume of 20µl. A no reverse transcriptase negative control reaction was prepared for each sample by not adding the ProtoScript II enzyme mix. The reverse transcription (RT) of 2x-myc-BCL2A1 were performed with gene-specific primers at a final concentration of 3µM for experiments that required its detection (Table II.2).

#### RT-qPCR

Reverse-transcribed cDNA was amplified and detected by real time PCR under the following conditions: 1X AmpliTaq Gold PCR Master Mix (#4398881, Applied Biosystems), 0.5µM for each primer, 0.2µM probe, 1X ROX reference dye (#12223-012, Invitrogen) and water to 20µl. PCR cycling conditions were 50 °C for 2 minutes, 95 °C for 10 minutes, 40 cycles

of 95 °C for 15 seconds, 60 °C for 60 seconds and 72°C for 2 minutes, then 72 °C for 7 minutes. Probes labeled with fluorescein were amidite (FAM) and either carboxytetramethylrhodamine (TAM) or Iowa Black FQ guencher (IABkFQ) at their 5' and 3' ends, respectively, and were ordered from IDT DNA (Coralville, IA). Sequences for all primers and probes used are listed in Table II.2. Measurements were made with the ABI Prism 7900 thermocycler and analyzed with SDS 2.4.2 software (Applied Biosystems). The expression of the mRNAs was determined in three steps. First, the cycle at which the amplification curve passed a threshold of detection (Ct) was calculated. Second, the Ct-value of the amplified cDNA for each sample was compared to the Ct-value of a control sample by the delta  $(\Delta)\Delta$ Ct method [4]. Finally, the expression of all reverse transcribed and amplified mRNAs was normalized to the amount of input RNA. The results are reported as the mean expression of the mRNA relative to a control sample unless otherwise noted.

### dCas9-KRAB system (CRISPRi)

Inactive Cas9 (dCas9), fused either with KRAB-MeCP2 or KRAB-ZIM3 repressor domains in a vector expressing antibiotic resistance to blasticidin, was transduced into A++9D and JSC-1. The cell lines transduced with these dCas9 derivatives underwent selection with 3µg/µl and 15µg/µl blasticidin, respectively, for over a month. Subsequently, they were transduced with a short-guide RNA targeting the promoter of BCL2A1, MCL1, or Rhodopsin (Table II.3), which was cloned into the Bsmbl-digested LentiCRISPRv2-mScarlett vector. Transduced cells were selected three days later through fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) for mScarlettpositive cells. These cells were then resuspended either in R10F for cell viability assays or lysed in TRIZOL for RT-qPCR.

## Statistics

It is noteworthy that the majority of my assays were conducted with technical triplicates. For those instances where time permitted the execution of biological replicates, I ensured a thorough statistical analysis.

Primary	Host	Monoclonal/Polyclonal	Company	Dilution	
Alpha-Tubulin 50KDa	Mouse	М	Sigma #T61199	1:3000	
EBNA3A 145 KDa	Sheep	р	Exalpha #F115P (Provided by Makoto Ohashi)	1:500	
LMP1 50KDa	Mouse	М	Abcam #AB78113 (Provided by Makoto Ohashi)	1:500	
MCL-1 40KDa	Rabbit	Ρ	Santa Cruz (S-19) sc-819	1:400	
BCL2A1 20KDa	Rabbit	Р	Abcam #AB75887	1:250	
BCL2A1 20KDa	Rabbit	М	Abcam #AB287160	1:200	
BCL2A1 20KDa	Rabbit	М	Cell signalling #14093S	1:300	
Secondary					
Anti-Rabbit HRP	bbit Goat P Promeg		Promega #W401B	1:2500	
Anti-Mouse HRP	i-Mouse HRP Goat P		Promega #W402B	1:2500	
Anti-Sheep HRP	/	/	Provided by Makoto Ohashi	1:5000	

## Table II.1 Antibodies used for proteins detection via western blot

mRNA Primer		Sequence (5' to 3')		
	RT	Random primers		
	Forward PCR	CAG CAC ATT GCC TCA ACA GCT TCA		
BCL2A1	Reverse PCR	TTG CTT GGA CCT GAT CCA GGT TGT		
	TaqMan probe	FAM - AAG ACT TTG CTC TCC ACC AGG		
		CAG AA - TAM		
BCL2A1, set 2	RT	TCA ACA GTA TTG CTT CAG GAG AG		
(used to amplify	Forward PCR	ACA CAG GAG AAT GGA TAA GGC		
2x-myc-BCL2A1)	Reverse PCR	TCA ACA GTA TTG CTT CAG GAG AG		
	TaqMan probe	FAM - AAC GGA GGC TGG GAA AAT GGC T – TAM		
	RT	Random Primers		
	Primer 1 PCR	CAG CGC AAC CAC GAG AC		
MCL1	Primer 2 PCR	TCC TAC TCC AGC AAC ACC T		
	TaqMan probe	FAM - AAA GCC AGC / ZEN / AGC ACA TTC		
		CTG ATG / 3IABkFQ		

Table II.2 Primers and probes used for detection of mRNAs via RT-qPCR

## Table II.3 Oligos sequences for CRISPRi

mRNA	Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')
MCL1 sg1	Oligo 1	CACCGGGAAGACCCCGACTCCTTAC
	Oligo 2	AAACGTAAGGAGTCGGGGTCTTCCC
MCL1 sg2	Oligo 1	CACCGGCCGCCTGGCTGAGAAAACT
	Oligo 2	AAACAGTTTTCTCAGCCAGGCGGCC
BCL2A1 sg1	Oligo 1	CACCGGCATTGCCTCAACAGCTTCA
	Oligo 2	AAACTGAAGCTGTTGAGGCAATGCC
BCL2A1 sg2	Oligo 1	CACCGGTCTGTCATCTTCTGCCTGG
	Oligo 2	AAACCCAGGCAGAAGATGACAGACC
Rhodopsin sg1	Oligo 1	CACCGCCCACCCAAGAATGCTGCGA
	Oligo 2	AAACTCGCAGCATTCTTGGGTGGGC

## CHAPTER III.

Characterizing anti-apoptotic pathways in PELs and PEL-LCs

## **Acknowledgment Chapter III**

In expressing my gratitude, I extend thanks to the fine scientist, Mitchell Hayes, whose generosity in sharing Figure III.6A has significantly enriched this work. His invaluable contribution has added depth and clarity to the content, and I genuinely appreciate his collaboration.

#### Introduction

I investigated whether Primary Effusion Lymphoma cells (PELs) and the PEL-Like cells (PEL-LCs) exhibit similar apoptotic pathways. PEL cell lines, including JSC-1, BC-1 and BCBL-1, were derived from primary tumors [1]. JSC-1 and BC-1 are co-infected with EBV and KSHV, while BCBL-1 is solely infected with KSHV. On the other side, PEL-LCs, including A++9D, A++11F and 2C2, represent stably transformed *in vitro* models of peripheral cells dually infected with EBV and KSHV [2]. Notably, A++9D and A++11F originate from the same blood donor.

To begin, I conducted a survey on these cell lines using small molecule inhibitors that target various molecules involved in apoptosis. Apoptosis is a regulated cell death process that can be initiated either through the extrinsic pathway, involving the activation of death receptors or via the cell-intrinsic pathway triggered by various forms of cellular stress. In the cell-intrinsic pathway, apoptotic signals converge on mitochondria, leading to the release of cytochrome C (cyto C) into the cytosol. This event, in turn, induces caspase activation, ultimately resulting in cell death [3]. The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is tightly regulated by the BCL-2 family proteins. Members of this family contain BCL-2 homology (BH) regions and can be broadly separated into two groups: pro-survival proteins (such as BCL-2, MCL-1, BCL-XL, BCL2A1/BFL-1 and BCL-W) and pro-apoptotic proteins. The pro-apoptotic proteins further divide into BH3-only proteins (e.g. BAD, BID, BIK, BIM, BMF, HRK, NOXA and PUMA) and BAX/BAK-like proteins [4].

The literature, documents well that PELs rely on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein for their survival. This finding is supported by the work of Manzano and colleagues, who performed a CRISPR-Cas9 screening and identified MCL-1 as one of the essential genes in PELs [5]. Moreover, Dunham and colleagues conducted knockout experiments targeting different antiapoptotic proteins that are endogenously expressed (MCL1, BCL2, or BCL-xL) in the BC-3 PEL cell line, which is infected only with KSHV. These experiments revealed that, despite the expression of other BCL2 family proteins, PELs predominantly rely on MCL1 for their survival. In addition, Dunham and colleagues generated clonal BAX and BAK double knockout (DKO) cell lines from BC-1 (infected with KSHV and EBV) and BC-3 (KSHV-only) cells to inactivate the intrinsic apoptotic pathway. The formation of pores by BAX or BAK is considered a necessary step to irreversibly initiate intrinsic apoptosis. When BC-3 and BC-1 DKO cells were treated with an MCL1 inhibitor (S63845), they were resistant even at the maximum dose used (20 mM) compared to WT BC-1 and BC-3, highlighting the specific role of MCL-1 in inhibiting intrinsic apoptosis in these cells [6].

I included other cell lines infected with EBV in my screens, such as PTLD-1 (derived from post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder) and Oku-1 [7], Sav-1 [8], and AG876 (derived from Burkitt lymphomas) [9]. Among the inhibitors tested, the only one that exhibited a difference in response between PELs and PEL-LCs was AZD-5991, an inhibitor targeting the antiapoptotic protein MCL-1 [10]. Notably, I observed that only PEL-LCs and PTLD-1 were resistant to high concentrations of the MCL-1 inhibitor, whereas all the other cell lines tested were sensitive to lower concentrations of it.

In this Chapter, I identified BCL2A1 as the antiapoptotic protein that is upregulated in PEL-LCs compared to PELs. Furthermore, I identified two EBV genes expressed in latency III as potential candidates that provide a survival advantage to dually infected PEL-LCs, perhaps, by regulating BCL2A1.

## Results Screening small-molecule inhibitors targeting diverse apoptotic molecules

In my initial exploration, I surveyed PELs (BC-1, JSC-1 and BCBL-1) and PEL-LCs (A++9D and A++11F) cell lines with a variety of small-molecule inhibitors [Table III.1] to determine if any cellular pathways distinguished PEL-LCs from PELs, at three different concentrations: 0.3 μM, 1μM and 3μM . Additionally, I included other cell lines infected with EBV, such as PTLD-1 derived from post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder and Oku-1, Sav-1, and AG876 derived from Burkitt lymphoma. Notably, I found that it appeared that the mechanism by which these cells regulated apoptosis differed between them, so I subsequently focused my research on this mechanism. Among the inhibitors tested, AZD-5991 (#28926, Cayman Chemical) stood out as the sole agent showcasing a discernible difference between PELs and PEL-LCs. This particular inhibitor is designed to target the antiapoptotic protein MCL-1 [Figure III.1].

Apoptosis hinges on a delicate balance between proapoptotic and antiapoptotic regulators to ensure the proper survival of cells and tumors which often exhibit dysregulation in antiapoptotic proteins. Intriguingly, my findings revealed that only PEL-LCs and PTLD-1 demonstrated resistance to high concentrations of AZD-5991 (~  $3\mu$ M). In contrast, all other tested cell lines displayed sensitivity to lower concentrations (~  $0.3\mu$ M).

#### MCL-1 inhibitor induces apoptosis in PELs

MCL-1, a prominent member of the BCL2 family, plays a crucial role in promoting the survival of malignant cells when overexpressed [11,12]. In this study, I investigated the inhibitor responses in both PELs and PEL-LCs. Notably, PEL-LCs exhibited approximately a 200-fold greater resistance to the MCL-1 inhibitor (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 6.5  $\mu$ M) compared to PELs (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 0.03

 $\mu$ M) [Figure III.2A]. To confirm the induction of apoptosis in PELs upon MCL-1 inhibition, I exposed them to a lethal dose of the MCL-1 inhibitor (1 $\mu$ M) for 24 hours. Subsequently, I measured apoptotic markers using cell titer glo and caspase 3/7 luciferase assays. As a positive control, I included a lethal dose of camptothecin (10 $\mu$ M), a specific inhibitor of DNA topoisomerase I, known to induce activation of caspase-3, -8, and -9 [13] for 6 hours. The results revealed a reduction in live cells upon exposure to the MCL-1 inhibitor or camptothecin in PEL cells, compared to the dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) control and A++9D (PEL-LC resistant to the inhibitor) [Figure III.2B]. This decrease correlated with a proportional increase in cells undergoing apoptosis, as evidenced by the rise in caspase 3/7 activities [Figure III.2C]. Thus, these data show that pharmacological inhibition of MCL-1 induces apoptotic cell death in PELs.

#### Expression of MCL1 in PEL and PEL-LC cell lines

The existing literature extensively demonstrates that PELs depend on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein for their survival, as indicated by various studies [5, 6, 10]. Indeed, of all the BCL2 family members, only MCL1 showed a strong and consistent requirement in all PEL cell lines. Subsequently, I investigated variations in MCL-1 expression in PEL-LCs, which serve as a stable *in vitro* model representing peripheral B cells dually infected with EBV and KSHV [2], in comparison to traditional PELs. The RT-qPCR analysis revealed an approximately 5-fold difference in mRNA expression [Figure III.3A]. However, this disparity was insufficient to account for the significant contrast observed in MCL-1 resistance as reported earlier. Intriguingly, the western blot analysis unveiled a substantial ~25-fold difference at the MCL-1 protein level [Figure III.3B]. These findings suggest, at least in part,

that PEL-LCs are resistant to MCL-1 pharmacological inhibition because they they do not rely on MCL-1 for their survival.

#### Characterizing anti-apoptotic pathway in PEL-LCs

PEL-LCs transcribe MCL-1 mRNA but do not translate it detectably into proteins. This raises the question of which antiapoptotic protein is responsible for the survival of PEL-LCs. To address this, I investigated the sensitivity of both PELs and PEL-LCs to ABT263, a potent small molecule inhibitor targeting BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w [10, 14]. As a positive control, the Jurkat cell line was included [15]. Consistent with the dependence of PELs on MCL-1, treatment with ABT-263 resulted in an IC<sub>50</sub> of ~ 4.5  $\mu$ M in proliferating cells. Interestingly, when ABT-263 was added to PEL-LCs, they exhibited resistance resulting in an IC<sub>50</sub> of approximately 4  $\mu$ M [Figure III.4]. Therefore, this suggests that PEL-LCs may rely on a distinct mechanism for their survival.

My preliminary screening revealed that PTLD-1 and PEL-LCs were the only cell lines resistant to MCL-1 inhibition (AZD-5991) (Figure III.1). Those are infected with EBV in Latency III, one of the distinct latent infection statuses in which the full range of EBV latent genes is transcribed. Given that various EBV genes expressed in PEL-LCs are associated with antiapoptotic functions, I speculate that one or more EBV proteins expressed in latency III play a vital role in their survival. I hypothesized that EBV provides resistance of PEL-LCs on BCL-2, BCL-xL, BCL-w and MCL-1 inhibition by upregulating another BCL-2 family member. From the literature on EBV proteins involved in survival mechanisms, LMP-1 (16) and EBNA3A (17) are candidates for being responsible for the resistance to AZD-5991 and ABT-263 in PEL-LCs by upregulating the antiapoptotic protein BCL2A1 (A1, BFL-1).

#### Expression of BCL2A1 in PEL and PEL-LC cell lines

To assess whether the resistance of PEL-LCs to AZD-5591 and ABT-263 is mediated by BCL2A1, I initially examined variations in BCL2A1 expression between PEL-LCs and PELs. Surprisingly, the RT-qPCR analysis revealed a ~250-fold higher expression of BCL2A1 in PEL-LCs compared to PELs [Figure III.5A]. However, BCL2A1 protein was only detectable through western blot analysis when I transfected an expression vector for BCL2A1, which was tagged with myc, into the 293T cell line. Notably, none of the three antibodies I tested recognized BCL2A1 in any sample [Figure III.5B]. This lack of detection can be attributed to an unexpected low affinity of the commercial antibodies. The 293T cell line expresses SV40 T-antigen to augment plasmid replication with an SV40 origin. Consequently, only in the transfected 293T cells, which express about 1000 times more protein, was I able to detect the BCL2A1 protein.

Following that, I investigated the expression of viral genes in PEL-LCs and PELs through a combination of RNAseq data analysis and western blot analysis. The results indicated that PEL-LCs exhibited expression of both viral proteins, LMP1 and EBNA3A, in contrast to PELs [Figure III.6A-B]. These data support a hypothesis that the resistance of PEL-LCs to AZD-5591 and ABT-263 might be mediated by BCL2A1 and identify EBNA3A and LMP1 as potential candidates that provide a survival advantage to dually infected PEL-LCs, perhaps, by regulating BCL2A1.

## Table III.1 Preliminary screening to distinguish PEL-LCs from PELs.

I surveyed PELs (BC-1, JSC-1 and BCBL-1) and PEL-LCs (A++9D and A++11F) cell lines with a variety of small-molecule inhibitors to determine if any cellular pathways distinguished PEL-LCs from PELs, at three different concentrations: 0.3 μM, 1μM and 3μM . Additionally, I included other cell lines infected with EBV, such as PTLD-1 derived from post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder and Oku-1, Sav-1, and AG876 derived from Burkitt lymphoma. Among the inhibitors tested, AZD-5991 stood out as the sole agent showcasing a discernible difference between PELs and PEL-LCs.

## Table III.1

Name	Mechanism of action	
Narciclasine	Blocking protein biosynthesis	
AZD-5991	Anti-MCL1 Competes with cytidine incorporation CDK4/6 inhibitor CDK4/6 inhibitor	
Cytarabine		
Abemaciclib		
Palbociclib		
GSK682753A	EBI-2 Inhibitor	
NIBRI89	EBI-2 Inhibitor	
saJM589	Disrupting MYC-MAX heterodimerization	

## Figure III.1 Effects of AZD-5991 (MCL-1 inhibitor) on the growth of lymphoma cell lines

Among the inhibitors tested, the MCL-1 inhibitor was the only one showing a discernible difference between PELs and PEL-LCs. I included other cell lines infected with EBV, such as PTLD-1 derived from post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder and Oku-1, Sav-1, and AG876 derived from Burkitt lymphoma. The green color signifies inhibitor sensitivity of the cell line (~ 0.3  $\mu$ M), while yellow indicates resistance (~ 3  $\mu$ M). Burkitt lymphoma (BL), Primary effusion lymphoma (PEL), Primary effusion lymphoma like cell (PEL-LC).

## Figure III.1

Sensitive Resistant

MCL-1 Inhibitor AZD-5991	Resistant	Resistant	Resistant	Sensitive	Sensitive	Sensitive	Sensitive	Sensitive	Sensitive
EBV Latency	Latency III	Latency III	Latency III		Latency I	Latency I	Latency I	Wp- restricted Latency	Latency II
Viral state	EBV	KSHV-EBV	KSHV-EBV	KSHV	KSHV-EBV	KSHV-EBV	EBV	EBV	EBV
Disease	EBV-related post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder	DEL-LC	DEL-LC	PEL bona fide	PEL bona fide	PEL bona fide	BL	BL	BL
Cell Line	PTLD1	A++11F	A++9D	BCBL-1	BC-1	JSC-1	Sav-1	Oku-1	AG876

**Figure III.2** *AZD-5991 (MCL1 inhibitor) effects on the growth and induction of apoptosis in PELs* (**A**) Different MCL-1 inhibitor response between PELs and PEL-LCs. The green color signifies inhibitor sensitivity of the cell line, while yellow indicates resistance. In this context, IC<sub>50</sub> is defined as the concentration required to inhibit half of the maximum biological response of the drug. (**B**) Percentages of live cells after 24 hours treatment of 1  $\mu$ M MCL-1 inhibitor (AZD-5991) or 10  $\mu$ M camptothecin (6 hours) as determined by cell titer glo assay. (**C**) In parallel, caspase 3/7 activities were measured using a luciferase assay from cells in B. Error bars, standard error of mean.

## Figure III.2

A	Model	Cell line	MCL-1 Inhibitor IC50 AZD-5991	Sensitive Resistant
	PEL-LCs	A++11F	7 µM	
		A++9D	7 μM	
		2C2	6.5 <i>µ</i> M	
-		BCBL-1	0.03 µM	
	PELs	BC-1	0.03 µM	
		JSC-1	0.03 <i>µ</i> M	





## Figure III.3 Expression levels of MCL-1 in PELs and PEL-LCs

(A) Results of RT-qPCR showing expression of MCL-1. The values have been normalized to the mRNA levels. Error bars, standard error of mean. (B) Western blot analysis showing the protein expression of MCL1. The values have been normalized to the expression of tubulin. The levels of significance were determined using an unpaired two-tailed t-test, by GraphPad Prism software 8.0.1. \*\* = 0.001 < P < 0.01. A representative example of three independent experiments is shown.

## Figure III.3



PEL-LCs

PELs



**Figure III.4** *Effects of ABT-263 (BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w) on the growth of PELs and PEL-LCs* Identical BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w inhibitor resistance between PELs and PEL-LCs. The green color signifies inhibitor sensitivity of the cell line, while yellow indicates resistance. In this context, IC<sub>50</sub> is defined as the concentration required to inhibit half of the maximum biological response of the drug.

## Figure III.4

Model	Cell line	BCL2, BCL-XL and BCLw Inhibitor IC50 ABT-263	Sensitive Resistant
PELLO	A++11F	4 μM	
T LL-LOS	A++9D	4.5 μM	
	JSC-1	5.5 <i>µ</i> M	
PELs	BC-1	4.5 μM	
	BCBL-1	4.5 μM	
Immortal human T lymphocytes	Jurkat	0.04 <i>µ</i> M	

## Figure III.5 Expression levels of BCL2A1 in PELs and PEL-LCs

(A) Results of RT-qPCR showing expression of BCL2A1. The values have been normalized to the mRNA levels. Error bars, standard error of mean. (B) Western blot analysis showing the protein expression of BCL2A1 and (C) myc-tag. 293T cell line expresses SV40 T-antigen to augment plasmid replication with an SV40 origin. Consequently, only in the transfected 293T cells, which express up to 1000 times more protein, could the BCL2A1 protein be detected, and then only with an antibody to the *myc* tag.

## Figure III.5





С



## Figure III.6 Expression levels of viral genes in PELs and PEL-LCs

(**A**) Heatmap showing the viral gene expression *in vitro* measured by RNA-Seq in cells infected only with EBV, in populations (white circle) and clones (black circle) of PEL-LCs and PEL cell lines. From blue to red there is a 60-fold difference. (**B**) Western blot analysis showing the protein expression of LMP1 and EBNA3A in PEL-LCs.





LMP1

#### Discussion

Primary infection with KSHV remains poorly characterized, partly due to its lower infection rate. While endothelial and fibroblast cells can be efficiently infected with KSHV *in vitro*, attempts to infect lymphoblastic cell lines have proven unsuccessful [18-21]. Even when lymphoblastic cells can be infected, KSHV does not induce transformation. Notably, in these studies, neither EBV-negative nor EBV-positive cell lines could be infected. In contrast, EBV can infect and transform peripheral B cells *in vitro*, promoting their long-term proliferation [22, 23]. Although it is widely accepted that the development and sustained viability of PELs are primarily driven by the latent genes of KSHV, an intriguing observation arises from Mack and colleagues. Their attempt to evict EBV from dually infected PELs, resulted in the failure of colony formation under limiting dilution, supporting the idea that EBV is essential for sustaining proliferation [24]. Several latent KSHV genes inhibit apoptosis in PEL cells [25-33], as well as numerous EBV genes, including those expressed in PEL cells [34-37]. Understanding the significance of dual infection and the distinct roles each virus plays in the tumorigenesis of this lymphoma poses a complex challenge.

Recently, Faure and colleagues demonstrated that EBV facilitates KSHV infection in peripheral B cells, with optimal efficiency achieved within 24 hours of EBV infection. The dually infected proliferating cells characterized in their study can maintain both KSHV and EBV for years in culture [2]. This in vitro transformation of peripheral B cells by both viruses offers an opportunity for detailed mechanistic analysis of the viral and cellular genes orchestrating the initial stages of the progression towards PEL. My study aims to elucidate the specific contributions of each virus to the characteristics of PEL-LCs compared to PELs.

Apoptosis depends on a delicate balance between proapoptotic and antiapoptotic regulators. Tumors often exhibit dysregulation in antiapoptotic proteins. My findings, along

with existing literature, document well that PELs rely on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein for survival [5, 6, 10]. The fact that PELs, whether KSHV-only or dually infected, depend on MCL-1 suggest that a latent gene expressed by KSHV might upregulate MCL-1, although a mutation in a cellular gene cannot be entirely excluded. Researchers are actively identifying which KSHV gene may be responsible for MCL-1 dependency in PELs [5,6,33].

In my studies, PEL-LCs exhibited higher resistance to MCL-1 pharmacological inhibition compared to PELs, despite both being dually infected with EBV and KSHV. My results indicate a substantial ~25 fold difference at the MCL-1 protein level, suggesting that PEL-LCs resist MCL-1 inhibition because they do not rely on MCL-1 for their survival. PEL-LCs express the same KSHV genes as PELs (data not shown), but their EBV latent patterns differ. PTLD-1 and PEL-LCs were the only cell lines resistant to MCL-1 inhibition in my preliminary screening, both infected with EBV in latency III, a status where the full range of EBV latent genes is transcribed, compared to PEL infected with EBV in latency I. Considering the association of various EBV genes in PEL-LCs with anti-apoptotic functions, I speculate that one or more EBV proteins expressed in latency III play a crucial role in their survival. From the literature on EBV proteins involved in survival mechanisms, LMP-1 (16) and EBNA3A (17) emerge as candidates responsible for the resistance to MCL-1 (AZD-5991), BCL-2, BCL-XL and BCL-W (ABT-263) in PEL-LCs by upregulating the antiapoptotic protein BCL2A1 (A1, BFL-1). Surprisingly, my RT-qPCR analysis revealed a ~250-fold higher expression of BCL2A1 in PEL-LCs compared to PELs.

These data suggest that the resistance of PEL-LCs to AZD-5591 and ABT-263 might be mediated by BCL2A1 and identify EBNA3A and LMP1 as potential candidates that provide a survival advantage to dually infected PEL-LCs, possibly by regulating BCL2A1.

# CHAPTER IV.

Assessing the roles of antiapoptotic proteins detected in Chapter III in PELs and PEL-LCs

#### Introduction

As shown in Chapter III, the survival of PELs relies on the antiapoptotic protein MCL-1. I have identified BCL2-related protein A1 (BCL2A1) as the upregulated antiapoptotic protein in PEL-LCs compared to PELs. BCL2A1 was firstly identified from fetal liver and thus named Bcl-2 related gene expressed in fetal liver (Bfl-1), highlighting its involvement in early hematopoiesis [1]. Following this discovery, in 1996, it was found that BCL2A1 can suppress p53-induced apoptosis like other Bcl-2 family members, thereby elucidating its role as a prosurvival protein involved in the regulation of apoptosis [2]. BCL2A1, an antiapoptotic homolog of BCL-2, contributes to the survival of lymphocytes and lymphomas. The expression of BCL2A1 correlates directly with the resistance of B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemias (B-CLLs) to chemotherapeutics. Conversely, the repression of BCL2A1 expression sensitizes B-CLLs to apoptosis induced by chemotherapeutics [3-6 and reviewed in 7]. Furthermore, BCL2A1's protein exhibits mitochondria localization and immunoprecipitates with BAK but not BAX [8]. Its interaction with BAK prevents BAX from adopting its active conformation, influencing the activities of both pro-apoptotic proteins [8, 9]. Additionally, BCL2A1 selectively binds the active, truncated form of BH3 interacting domain death agonist (BID), likely inhibiting its pro-apoptotic activities [9, 10].

In this Chapter, I set out to identify whether BCL2A1 is responsible for survival in PEL-LCs using two complementary approaches. The first involves the ectopic introduction of BCL2A1 fused to mRFP into PELs, followed by sorting for mRFP-positive cells. Since infected cells exhibit heterogeneity in protein expression levels, a second sorting step was performed to select the highest 20% and the lowest 20% mRFP-positive cells. This enabled the detection of differences in BCL2A1 levels. This approach shows that ectopically introduced BCL2A1 provides resistance to MCL-1 inhibitor in PELs according to mRNA levels. The second approach consists of silencing BCL2A1 gene expression in PEL-LCs and MCL-1 in PELs by Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeat interference (CRISPRi). CRISPRi utilizes an inactive Cas9 (dCas9), fused to the Krüppel-associated box (KRAB) repressor domain, and a customizable single guide RNA (sgRNA) [11, 12]. The KRAB domain induces silencing by interacting with TRIM28/KAP1, a scaffold protein that assembles a protein complex with chromatin regulators such as CBX5/HP1 $\alpha$  and SETB1 [13]. The dCas9-sgRNA complex binds to DNA elements complementary to the sgRNA and the interaction with a KRAB domain recruits KAP1/TRIM28 and assembles a KAP1-associated heterochromatin complex in specific regions of chromatin, including many well-known cofactors involved in heterochromatin formation: histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9) methyltransferase SETDB1, heterochromatin protein 1, histone deacetylase containing nucleosome remodeling complex and DNA methyltransferases, resulting in the repression of the target gene [13, 14].

In this chapter, I observed enhanced survival rates in PELs based on the expression levels of BCL2A1, identifying BCL2A1 as the potential candidate protein that fosters survival in PEL-LCs.

## Results The constitutive, exogenous expression of BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PELs

As shown earlier, I identified BCL2-related protein A1 (BCL2A1) as the upregulated antiapoptotic protein in PEL-LCs compared to PELs. BCL2A1 was a promising candidate for inhibiting apoptosis due to its ability to bind and inhibit both truncated BID (tBID) and BAK, which are proapoptotic proteins [8-10]. Consequently, BCL2A1's ability to inhibit the activities of tBID and BAK could potentially block the apoptosis triggered by the inhibition of MCL1 (AZD-5991) in PELs. To validate this hypothesis, I conducted tests to assess BCL2A1's efficacy in inhibiting apoptosis induced by AZD-5991 treatment.

PEL cells (BCBL-1 and JSC-1) were transduced with a vector expressing 2x-myc-BCL2A1 fused to mRFP. Subsequent sorting facilitated the selection of the top 20% and bottom 20% of mRFP-positive cells, allowing for the discernment of variations in BCL2A1 levels. These cells were then subjected to MCL-1 inhibitor response testing (AZD-5991). The results demonstrated an increase in viable cells corresponding to the increased expression of BCL2A1 in BCBL-1 (Figure IV.1A) and JSC-1 (Figure IV.1C).

Furthermore, RT-qPCR analysis revealed a 4-fold- increase in the mRNA encoding the 2x-myc-BCL2A1 protein in BCBL-1 high RFP compared to low RFP (Figure IV.1B) and at 8-fold-increase in JSC-1 high RFP compared to low RFP (Figure IV.1D). These findings suggest that BCL2A1 effectively inhibits apoptosis induced by AZD-5991.

#### CRISPRi approach for targeting BCL2A1 in PEL-LCs and MCL1 in PELs

The exogenous expression of BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis induced by MCL-1 inhibition in PELs. I hypothesized that BCL2A1 upregulation in PEL-LCs protects against mitochondrialdependent apoptosis. PEL-LCs, unlike PELs like JSC-1, have wild-type p53 alleles (data not shown). From our previous experiments (data not shown), we know that introducing doublestrand breaks into the genome, as in CRISPR/Cas9 editing, is toxic to cells with wild-type p53 [Figure IV.2]. Therefore, knocking out genes was not feasible. This led me to explore an alternative to reduce BCL2A1 expression in PEL-LCs. Initially, I considered using the shRNA tool, but it is well-established that this approach is less effective and prone to off-target effects [15-17] compared to CRISPR interference (CRISPRi) [18]. CRISPRi would recruit many well-known cofactors involved in heterochromatin formation, resulting in the repression of the target gene [13,14] [Figure IV.2].

I used a two-step process involving dCas9 derivatives and short-guide RNA targeting specific genes. I generated A++9D (PEL-LC) and JSC-1 (PEL) stably expressing dCas9-KRAB constructs (either MeCP2 or ZIM3) that targeted TSS (transcription start site) of BCL2A1 in A++9D and of MCL-1 in JSC-1. Unfortunately, RT-qPCR analysis showed that none of the guides designed for either BCL2A1 or MCL1 significantly ablated the expression levels compared to the rhodopsin-targeting control [Figure IV.3].

Those cell lines were first transduced with one of the two dCas9 derivatives and underwent selection of blasticidin over a month. Subsequently, they were transduced with a short-guide RNA targeting the promoter of BCL2A1, MCL1, or Rhodopsin, cloned into the LentiCRISPRv2-mScarlett vector. Three days later, transduced cells were selected through fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) for mScarlett-positive cells. Unfortunately, the guides themselves did not produce the desired effects. A more recent study by Dai et al. demonstrated that in a similar system, dCas9-KRAB significantly reduced BCL2A1 (BFL-1) mRNA levels in a lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL) infected with EBV compared to KRAB-only cells [19].
**Figure IV.1** *The constitutive, exogenous expression of BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PEL cells.* Ectopic introduction of BCL2A1 fused to mRFP into PELs, followed by sorting by flow cytometry for the 20% of cells expressing the lowest (Low 20%) or highest (High 20%) levels of BCL2A1-mRFP. Dose-response curves to assess AZD-5991 (MCL-1 inhibitor) sensitivity in proliferating (**A**) BCBL-1 and (**C**) JSC-1 cells. The expression of the BCL2A1-mRFP for (**B**) BCBL-1 and (**D**) JSC-1 was normalized to mRNA levels and is represented as the fold change relative to the expression in cells expressing the lowest levels of BCL2A1-mRFP. Error bars, standard error of mean.

Figure IV.1





### Figure IV.2 Difference between CRISPR/Cas9 and CRISPRi

Introducing double-strand breaks into the genome, as in CRISPR/Cas9 editing, is toxic to cells with wild-type p53. CRISPRi utilizes an inactive Cas9 (dCas9), fused to the Krüppel-associated box (KRAB) repressor domain, and a customizable single guide RNA (sgRNA). CRISPRi would recruit many well-known cofactors involved in heterochromatin formation, resulting in the repression of the target gene without introducing any breaks into the genome [Figure modified from 20].

## **CRISPR/Cas9**



## **CRISPR-Cas9 editing**

CRISPR-Cas9 induces double strand breaks at targeted protospacer with NGG PAM recognition sequence in mammalian cells that result in indel formation

Toxic when p53 is WT

## **CRISPR** interference



# **Epigenetic regulation**

dCas9 combined with an epigenetic modifier can regulate gene expression by tethering methyltransferases and acetyltransferases

## Figure IV.2

### Figure IV.3 Downregulation BCL2A1 in PEL-LC and MCL-1 in PEL

RT-qPCR of (**A**) BCL2A1 levels in A++9D (PEL-LC) and (**B**) of MCL-1 levels in JSC1 (PEL) stably expressing either dCas9-MeCP2 or dCas9-ZIM3. Rhodopsin (RHO) is a not essential gene used as negative control. The expression of BCL2A1, MCL1 and RHO was normalized to mRNA levels. Error bars, standard error of mean. Sg=single guide.





#### Discussion

As shown in chapter III, my findings along with existing literature, document well that PELs rely on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein for survival. My data show that PEL-LCs exhibited higher resistance to MCL-1 pharmacological inhibition compared to PELs and suggest that this resistance might be mediated by BCL2A1 and identify EBNA3A and LMP1 as potential candidates that provide a survival advantage to dually infected PEL-LCs, possibly by regulating BCL2A1. BCL2A1 is an antiapoptotic protein similar to BCL-2, playing a crucial role in the survival of lymphocytes and lymphomas. In B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemias (B-CLLs), high expression of BCL2A1 is associated with resistance to chemotherapeutics. Suppressing BCL2A1 expression enhances sensitivity of B-CLLs to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis.

Additionally, I observed enhanced survival rates in PELs based on the expression levels of BCL2A1, identifying it as the potential protein that fosters survival in PEL-LCs. Notably, I found that the mRNA expression of Bcl2a1, as opposed to Mcl1, is greater in PEL-LCs than in PELs. My findings revealed that the introduction of exogenous BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PEL cells treated with an MCL-1 inhibitor, underscoring the potential significance of BCL2A1 in the context of PEL pathogenesis. Expanding on this, existing literature supports the notion that EBV viral genes, LMP1 and EBNA3A, are implicated in the upregulation of BCL2A1, reinforcing the intricate relationship between viral infection and the antiapoptotic machinery in PEL.

Recognizing BCL2A1 as a key cofactor in PEL-LCs, the loss of BCL2A1 was expected to impact cellular survival. To directly compare the requirements for BCL2A1 and MCL1 in PEL-LCs and PELs, respectively, I aimed to suppress each antiapoptotic protein using CRISPR interference [21, 22]. In CRISPRi, endonuclease-deactivated Cas9 (dCas9) is fused with the transcriptional repressor domain Krüppel-associated box (KRAB) and directed close to the transcription start site (TSS) of target genes through sgRNAs, inducing epigenetic transcriptional silencing (knockdown). I opted for CRISPRi over CRISPR/Cas9 due to observed gene function-independent toxicity when targeting with the Cas9 endonuclease with p53 wild-type. I also favored it over shRNA due to its greater effectiveness and reduced risk of offtarget effects. Furthermore, I utilized two distinct dCas9-KRAB constructs, MeCP2 or ZIM3. ZIM3 is known for its highly potent KRAB domain, demonstrating increased effectiveness in target gene silencing and reduced sensitivity to gRNA selection compared to existing systems [11]. Besides its potency, ZIM3 KRAB is smaller than the KRAB–MeCP2 construct, offering an advantage for approaches using viral delivery methods limited by insert length. Despite this efforts, CRISPRi-mediated knockdown of BCL2A1 or MCL-1 did not lead to a significant downregulation. The sgRNAs were designed from the CRISPRi Dolcetto library (23). Moreover, it is not possible to determinate from my data which of the two dCas9-KRAB constructs is more efficient. A more recent study by Dai et al. demonstrated that in a similar system, dCas9-KRAB significantly reduced BCL2A1 (BFL-1) mRNA levels in a lymphoblastoid cell line (LCL) infected with EBV compared to KRAB-only cells [19]. In their study, researchers report that BCL2A1 expression is not crucial for LCL survival in the absence of extrinsic apoptotic signals [19, 24]. They hypothesized that BCL2A1 upregulation in LCLs protects against mitochondriondependent extrinsic apoptosis. To test it, they generated BCL2A1 knockdown LCL proliferating cells that were significantly more sensitive to increasing doses of FasL and TRAIL, activating the extrinsic apoptosis, compared to negative LCLs that expressed not targeting dCas9-KRAB. Their findings suggest two potential courses of action: utilizing the same sgRNA they employed and considering that the sole loss of BCL2A1 might not affect cellular survival.

In fact, adding another layer of complexity, the lack of essentiality identified for BCL2A1 in existing CRISPR screens introduces challenges in establishing a control scenario where BCL2A1 downregulation unequivocally results in cell death, but this discovery opens up the possibility that this gene may act as a synthetically lethally gene. In such scenario, the combination of two genetic events would lead to cell death.

In this *in vitro* model, EBV is seen as an active participant rather than a mere passenger in PEL, potentially orchestrating the upregulation of BCL2A1 to provide an antiapoptotic signal. This intricate interplay may be further influenced or compensated by the deregulation of MCL-1, adding layers of complexity to the apoptotic regulatory network in PEL.

## CHAPTER V.

Discussion and future directions

Primary effusion lymphoma (PEL), an aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, primarily affects immunocompromised individuals [1-3]. While KSHV and EBV co-infection is common in PEL, the role of each virus in tumor maintenance is complex. The primary infection of KSHV remains enigmatic, hindered by its low infection rate. Additionally, while KSHV efficiently infects endothelial and fibroblast cells *in vitro*, attempts to infect lymphoblastic cell lines have proven unsuccessful [4-7]. In contrast, EBV displays efficacy in infecting and transforming peripheral B cells, emphasizing its role in long-term proliferation[8, 9]. Despite observations which indicate that the development and viability of PELs are primarily driven by KSHV latent genes, attempts to eliminate EBV from dually infected PELs resulted in the failure of colony formation, highlighting the essential role of EBV in sustaining proliferation [10]. Faure et al. demonstrated EBV's facilitation of KSHV infection in peripheral B cells, offering a unique *in vitro* model for investigating the progression towards PEL [11]. My research aims to uncover the specific contributions of each virus to the characteristics of PEL-LCs compared to PELs.

The delicate balance between proapoptotic and antiapoptotic regulators is crucial for cellular survival [12]. PELs, whether KSHV-only or dually infected, heavily rely on the antiapoptotic MCL-1 protein [13-15]. This dependence on MCL-1, regardless of EBV infection status, support the hypothesis that a latent KSHV gene may play a role in the upregulation of MCL-1. Examining PEL-LCs, my research discovered their higher resistance to MCL-1 inhibition compared to PELs, indicating an alternative survival mechanism. Notably, this resistance is linked to elevated BCL2A1 expression in PEL-LCs, infected with EBV in latency III, compared to PELs, infected with EBV in latency I (when present), and suggests a role for specific EBV proteins in their survival. LMP-1 [16] and EBNA3A [17] emerge as candidates influencing resistance to MCL-1 inhibition in PEL-LCs, potentially by upregulating BCL2A1.

My study investigates the potential significance of BCL2A1 in PEL-LCs, identifying it as

a key factor for cellular survival. My findings revealed that the introduction of exogenous BCL2A1 inhibited apoptosis in PEL cells treated with an MCL-1 inhibitor, underscoring the potential significance of BCL2A1 in the context of PEL pathogenesis. Recognizing BCL2A1 as a key cofactor in PEL-LCs, the loss of BCL2A1 was expected to impact cellular survival. Attempts to suppress BCL2A1 and MCL-1 using CRISPR interference reveal complexities and challenges. Despite my efforts, CRISPRi-mediated knockdown of BCL2A1 or MCL-1 did not lead to their significant downregulation in PEL-LCs and PELs, respectively. Moreover, the lack of essentiality identified for BCL2A1 by others and in available CRISPR screens introduces challenges in establishing a control scenario where BCL2A1 downregulation unequivocally results in cell death and introduces the possibility of its "synthetic lethality", in which the combination of two genetic events would lead to cell death. These findings suggest two potential courses of action: employing the same guide RNA used by Dai et al. for CRISPRi to downregulate BCL2A1 [18] and acknowledging that the exclusive loss of BCL2A1 may not impact cellular survival. In this context, it would be intriguing to investigate whether PEL-LCs continue to survive after the downregulation of BCL2A1 and, consequently, assess any alterations in their resistance to inhibition of MCL-1, BCL-2, BCL-XL, and BCL-W.

Therefore, I speculated a potential role for latent EBV proteins, LMP1 or EBNA3A, in conferring antiapoptotic advantages to PEL-LCs, mirroring EBV's role during initial infection and transformation in PEL. In experiments led by Pratt and colleagues, the introduction of LMP1 into cell lines, both EBV-positive and EBV-negative, exhibited a clear association with heightened levels of the antiapoptotic protein BCL2A1 and LMP1. Conversely, transfecting two EBV-negative epithelial cell lines with escalating doses of an LMP1-encoding vector did not yield detectable BCL2A1 expression via RT-qPCR [16]. Price and colleagues conducted a study using both wild-type (WT) EBV and an EBV strain lacking EBNA3A (ΔEBNA3A) to infect

and transform B cells (LCLs). Notably, cells infected with  $\Delta$ EBNA3A exhibited sensitivity to ABT-737, an inhibitor targeting antiapoptotic proteins BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w, in contrast to WT EBV-infected cells. This distinctive phenotype was rescued upon the introduction of ectopic expression of EBNA3A. Furthermore, employing chromatin conformation capture assays, they unveiled that two genomic regions upstream of the BCL2A1 gene were strongly associated with the transcription start site (TSS) in WT EBNA3A, whereas this association was less pronounced in  $\Delta$ EBNA3A LCLs. In support of this, ChIP-Seq data revealed the binding of EBNA3A within a known EBV Super Enhancer located 39 kb upstream of the BFL-1 TSS [17].

To assess their roles in PEL-LCs compared to PEL, I propose employing two complementary approaches. The first approach involves the ectopic introduction of LMP1 or EBNA3A fused to a fluorescent protein into PELs, and the selection of the highest 20% and the lowest 20% fluorescent-positive cells. This selection allows for the examination of the association between with levels of the antiapoptotic protein BCL2A1 and LMP1 or EBNA3A. This approach underscores the potential significance of EBV in the context of PEL pathogenesis. The second approach involves their knockdown or downregulation. This approach presents some complexities. As mentioned earlier, CRISPR/Cas9 is toxic in cells presenting wild-type p53 as in PEL-LCs. On the other hand, CRISPRi is not feasible due to shared promoters controlling most EBV-encoded transcripts. To address these challenges, I propose testing and employing CRISPR/CasRx, which utilizes a deactivated dCas9 targeting RNA sequences [19]. However, it's important to note that the latter experiment can't exclude the possibility that these proteins contribute to survival through mechanisms other than apoptosis. Roles beyond inhibiting apoptosis have emerged for LMP1 and EBNA3A, including inhibition of gene expression, induction of autophagy and cell proliferation [20, 21 and reviewed in 22]. To dissect the specific role of these viral proteins, a double downregulation

of BAX and BAK should be initially performed. This process inactivates the intrinsic apoptosis pathway since pore formation by BAX or BAK1 is considered the necessary step to irreversibly initiate intrinsic apoptosis. By inhibiting intrinsic apoptosis, it becomes possible to test whether the downregulation of LMP1 or EBNA3A leads to apoptosis, and if so, determine whether this is attributable to other mechanisms.

My research poses the bases to dissect the intricate interplay between KSHV, EBV, and the apoptotic regulatory network in PEL. BCL2A1 emerges as a potential key player, influenced by EBV proteins, adding layers of complexity to our understanding of PEL pathogenesis.

## References

## **Chapter I. Background and introduction**

1) de Martel C, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM. Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2020 Feb;8(2):e180-e190. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30488-7. Epub 2019 Dec 17. PMID: 31862245.

2) Parkin DM. The global health burden of infection-associated cancers in the year 2002. Int J Cancer. 2006 Jun 15;118(12):3030-44. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21731. PMID: 16404738.

3) de Martel C, Ferlay J, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Bray F, Forman D, Plummer M. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2008: a review and synthetic analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2012 Jun;13(6):607-15. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70137-7. Epub 2012 May 9. PMID: 22575588.

4) Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2016 Sep;4(9):e609-16. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30143-7. Epub 2016 Jul 25. PMID: 27470177.

5) Arias C, Weisburd B, Stern-Ginossar N, Mercier A, Madrid AS, Bellare P, Holdorf M, Weissman JS, Ganem D. KSHV 2.0: a comprehensive annotation of the Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus genome using next-generation sequencing reveals novel genomic and functional features. PLoS Pathog. 2014 Jan;10(1):e1003847. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003847. Epub 2014 Jan 16. PMID: 24453964; PMCID: PMC3894221.

6) Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, Lee F, Culpepper J, Knowles DM, Moore PS. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. Science. 1994 Dec 16;266(5192):1865-9. doi: 10.1126/science.7997879. PMID: 7997879.

7) Cesarman E, Moore PS, Rao PH, Inghirami G, Knowles DM, Chang Y. In vitro establishment and characterization of two acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related lymphoma cell lines (BC-1 and BC-2) containing Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like (KSHV) DNA sequences. Blood. 1995 Oct 1;86(7):2708-14. PMID: 7670109.

8) Cesarman E, Chang Y, Moore PS, Said JW, Knowles DM. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-related body-cavity-based lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 1995 May 4;332(18):1186-91. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199505043321802. PMID: 7700311.

9) Soulier J, Grollet L, Oksenhendler E, Cacoub P, Cazals-Hatem D, Babinet P, d'Agay MF, Clauvel JP, Raphael M, Degos L, et al. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in multicentric Castleman's disease. Blood. 1995 Aug 15;86(4):1276-80. PMID: 7632932.

10) Staskus KA, Zhong W, Gebhard K, Herndier B, Wang H, Renne R, Beneke J, Pudney J, Anderson DJ, Ganem D, Haase AT. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus gene expression in endothelial (spindle) tumor cells. J Virol. 1997 Jan;71(1):715-9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.71.1.715-719.1997. PMID: 8985403; PMCID: PMC191104.

11) Stürzl M, Blasig C, Schreier A, Neipel F, Hohenadl C, Cornali E, Ascherl G, Esser S, Brockmeyer NH, Ekman M, Kaaya EE, Tschachler E, Biberfeld P. Expression of HHV-8 latencyassociated T0.7 RNA in spindle cells and endothelial cells of AIDS-associated, classical and African Kaposi's sarcoma. Int J Cancer. 1997 Jul 3;72(1):68-71. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19970703)72:1<68::aid-ijc10>3.0.co;2-6. PMID: 9212225.

12) Dupin N, Fisher C, Kellam P, Ariad S, Tulliez M, Franck N, van Marck E, Salmon D, Gorin I, Escande JP, Weiss RA, Alitalo K, Boshoff C. Distribution of human herpesvirus-8 latently infected cells in Kaposi's sarcoma, multicentric Castleman's disease, and primary effusion

lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Apr 13;96(8):4546-51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.8.4546. PMID: 10200299; PMCID: PMC16369.

13) Katano H, Sato Y, Kurata T, Mori S, Sata T. Expression and localization of human herpesvirus 8-encoded proteins in primary effusion lymphoma, Kaposi's sarcoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. Virology. 2000 Apr 10;269(2):335-44. doi: 10.1006/viro.2000.0196. PMID: 10753712.

14) Parravicini C, Chandran B, Corbellino M, Berti E, Paulli M, Moore PS, Chang Y. Differential viral protein expression in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-infected diseases: Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease. Am J Pathol. 2000 Mar;156(3):743-9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64940-1. PMID: 10702388; PMCID: PMC1876837.

15) Bloss TA, Sugden B (1994) Optimal lengths for DNAs encapsidated by Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol 68:8217–8222

16) Rickinson AB, Kieff ED (2007) Epstein-Barr virus. In: Knipe DM, Griffin DE, Lamb RA, Martin MA, Roizman B, editors. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. pp. 2655–2700. Fields virology vol. 2 5th ed.

17) Young LS, Rickinson AB. Epstein-Barr virus: 40 years on. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Oct;4(10):757-68. doi: 10.1038/nrc1452. PMID: 15510157.

18) Rowe M, Kelly GL, Bell AI, Rickinson AB (2009) Burkitt's lymphoma: The rosetta stone deciphering Epstein-Barr virus biology. Semin Cancer Biol 19(6): 377–388.

19) Thompson MP, Kurzrock R. Epstein-Barr virus and cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2004 Feb 1;10(3):803-21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-0670-3. PMID: 14871955.

20) T. F. Schulz, Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (human herpesvirus 8): epidemiology and pathogenesis, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, Volume 45, Issue suppl\_4, April 2000, Pages 15–27, https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/45.suppl\_4.15

21) Nador RG, Cesarman E, Chadburn A, Dawson DB, Ansari MQ, Sald J, Knowles DM. Primary effusion lymphoma: a distinct clinicopathologic entity associated with the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus. Blood. 1996 Jul 15;88(2):645-56. PMID: 8695812.

22) WHO-Classification-of-Tumours-Editorial-Board, editor. Thoracic Tumours, WHO classification of tumours series. 5th ed. Lyon: IRAC; 2021.

23) WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues / edited by Steven H. Swerdlow, Elias Campo, Nancy Lee Harris, Elaine S. Jaffe, Stefano A. Pileri, Harald Stein, Jurgen Thiele. - Revised 4th edition.

24) Knowles DM. Inghirami G. Ubriaco A, et al. (1989). Mdecular genetic analysis of three AIDS-associated neoplasms of uncertain lin eage demonstrates their B-cdl derivation and the possible pathogenetic rde of the Epstein- Barr virus. Blood. 73:792-9. PMID 2537119

25) Nie Z, Hu G, Wei G, Cui K, Yamane A, Resch W, Wang R, Green DR, Tessarollo L, Casellas R, Zhao K, Levens D. c-Myc is a universal amplifier of expressed genes in lymphocytes and embryonic stem cells. Cell. 2012 Sep 28;151(1):68-79. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.08.033. PMID: 23021216; PMCID: PMC3471363.

26) Tolani B, Gopalakrishnan R, Punj V, et al. (2014). Targeting Myc in KSHV-associated primary effusion lymphoma with BET bromo- domain inhibitors. Oncogene. 33:2928-37. PMID:23792448

27) Chen YB, Rahemtullah A, Hochberg E. Primary effusion lymphoma. Oncologist. 2007 May;12(5):569-76. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.12-5-569. PMID: 17522245. 28) GhoshSK,WoodC,BoiseLH,etal. (2003). Potentiation of TRAIL-induced apopto sis in primary effusion lymphoma through azi-dothymidine-mediated inhibition of NF-kappa B. Blood. 101:2321-7. PMID:12406882

29) Cesarman E, Knowles DM. The role of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) in lymphoproliferative diseases. Semin Cancer Biol. 1999 Jun;9(3):165-74. doi: 10.1006/scbi.1998.0118. PMID: 10343068.

30) Klein U. Gloghini A. Gaidano G, et al. (2003). Gene expression profile analysis of AIDSrelated primary effusion lymphoma (PEL) suggests a plasmablastic derivation and identi fies PEL-specific transcripts. Blood. 101:4115- 21. PMID 12531789

31) Vereide D, Sugden B. Insights into the evolution of lymphomas induced by Epstein-Barr virus. Adv Cancer Res. 2010;108:1-19. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-380888-2.00001-7. PMID: 21034964.

32) Vereide DT, Sugden B. Lymphomas differ in their dependence on Epstein-Barr virus. Blood. 2011 Feb 10;117(6):1977-85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-285791. Epub 2010 Nov 18. PMID: 21088132; PMCID: PMC3056644.

33) Chiu YF, Sugden AU, Fox K, Hayes M, Sugden B. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stably clusters its genomes across generations to maintain itself extrachromosomally. J Cell Biol. 2017 Sep 4;216(9):2745-2758. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201702013. Epub 2017 Jul 10. Erratum in: J Cell Biol. 2018 Oct 1;217(10):3766-3767. PMID: 28696226; PMCID: PMC5584176.

34) Myoung J, Ganem D. Generation of a doxycycline-inducible KSHV producer cell line of endothelial origin: maintenance of tight latency with efficient reactivation upon induction. J Virol Methods. 2011 Jun;174(1-2):12-21. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.03.012. Epub 2011 Mar 17. PMID: 21419799; PMCID: PMC3095772.

35) Renne R, Blackbourn D, Whitby D, Levy J, Ganem D. Limited transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 1998 Jun;72(6):5182-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.6.5182-5188.1998. PMID: 9573290; PMCID: PMC110093.

36) Bechtel JT, Liang Y, Hvidding J, Ganem D. Host range of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 2003 Jun;77(11):6474-81. doi: 10.1128/jvi.77.11.6474-6481.2003. PMID: 12743304; PMCID: PMC155009.

37) Blackbourn DJ, Lennette E, Klencke B, Moses A, Chandran B, Weinstein M, Glogau RG, Witte MH, Way DL, Kutzkey T, Herndier B, Levy JA. The restricted cellular host range of human herpesvirus 8. AIDS. 2000 Jun 16;14(9):1123-33. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200006160-00009. PMID: 10894276.

38) Moss DJ, Pope JH. Assay of the infectivity of Epstein-Barr virus by transformation of human leucocytes in vitro. J Gen Virol. 1972 Nov;17(2):233-6. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-17-2-233. PMID: 4344316.

39) Sugden B, Mark W. Clonal transformation of adult human leukocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol. 1977 Sep;23(3):503-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.23.3.503-508.1977. PMID: 197258; PMCID: PMC515860.

40) Faure A, Hayes M, Sugden B. How Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stably transforms peripheral B cells towards lymphomagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019 Aug 13;116(33):16519-16528. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1905025116. Epub 2019 Jul 30. PMID: 31363046; PMCID: PMC6697783.

41) Mack AA, Sugden B. EBV is necessary for proliferation of dually infected primary effusion lymphoma cells. Cancer Res. 2008 Sep 1;68(17):6963-8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0627. PMID: 18757410; PMCID: PMC2587434.

42) Godfrey A, Anderson J, Papanastasiou A, Takeuchi Y, Boshoff C. Inhibiting primary effusion lymphoma by lentiviral vectors encoding short hairpin RNA. Blood. 2005 Mar 15;105(6):2510-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3052. Epub 2004 Nov 30. PMID: 15572586.

43) Guasparri I, Keller SA, Cesarman E. Retraction: KSHV vFLIP Is Essential for the Survival of Infected Lymphoma Cells. J Exp Med. 2021 Mar 1;218(3):jem.2003146702062021r. doi: 10.1084/jem.2003146702062021r. PMID: 33599700; PMCID: PMC7927431.

44) Nishimura K, Ueda K, Sakakibara S, Ishikawa K, Chen J, Okuno T, Yamanishi K. Functional analysis of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus RTA in an RTA-depressed cell line. J Hum Virol. 2001 Nov-Dec;4(6):296-305. PMID: 12082396.

45) Moore LN, Holmes DL, Sharma A, Landazuri Vinueza J, Lagunoff M. Bcl-xL is required to protect endothelial cells latently infected with KSHV from virus induced intrinsic apoptosis. PLoS Pathog. 2023 May 10;19(5):e1011385. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1011385. PMID: 37163552; PMCID: PMC10202281.

46) Brien G, Trescol-Biemont MC, Bonnefoy-Bérard N. Downregulation of Bfl-1 protein expression sensitizes malignant B cells to apoptosis. Oncogene. 2007 Aug 23;26(39):5828-32. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210363. Epub 2007 Mar 12. PMID: 17353899.

47) Simmons MJ, Fan G, Zong WX, Degenhardt K, White E, Gélinas C. Bfl-1/A1 functions, similar to Mcl-1, as a selective tBid and Bak antagonist. Oncogene. 2008 Feb 28;27(10):1421-8. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210771. Epub 2007 Sep 3. PMID: 17724464; PMCID: PMC2880719.

48) Bélanger C, Gravel A, Tomoiu A, Janelle ME, Gosselin J, Tremblay MJ, Flamand L. Human herpesvirus 8 viral FLICE-inhibitory protein inhibits Fas-mediated apoptosis through binding and prevention of procaspase-8 maturation. J Hum Virol. 2001 Mar-Apr;4(2):62-73. PMID: 11437316.

49) Djerbi M, Screpanti V, Catrina AI, Bogen B, Biberfeld P, Grandien A. The inhibitor of death receptor signaling, FLICE-inhibitory protein defines a new class of tumor progression factors. J Exp Med. 1999 Oct 4;190(7):1025-32. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.7.1025. PMID: 10510092; PMCID: PMC2195646.

50) Rivas C, Thlick AE, Parravicini C, Moore PS, Chang Y. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LANA2 is a B-cell-specific latent viral protein that inhibits p53. J Virol. 2001 Jan;75(1):429-38. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.1.429-438.2001. PMID: 11119611; PMCID: PMC113935.

51) Baresova P, Musilova J, Pitha PM, Lubyova B. p53 tumor suppressor protein stability and transcriptional activity are targeted by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded viral interferon regulatory factor 3. Mol Cell Biol. 2014 Feb;34(3):386-99. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01011-13. Epub 2013 Nov 18. PMID: 24248600; PMCID: PMC3911520.

52) Wies E, Mori Y, Hahn A, Kremmer E, Stürzl M, Fleckenstein B, Neipel F. The viral interferon-regulatory factor-3 is required for the survival of KSHV-infected primary effusion lymphoma cells. Blood. 2008 Jan 1;111(1):320-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-05-092288. Epub 2007 Sep 21. PMID: 17890449.

53) Santag S, Jäger W, Karsten CB, Kati S, Pietrek M, Steinemann D, Sarek G, Ojala PM, Schulz TF. Recruitment of the tumour suppressor protein p73 by Kaposi's Sarcoma Herpesvirus latent nuclear antigen contributes to the survival of primary effusion lymphoma cells. Oncogene. 2013 Aug 8;32(32):3676-85. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.385. Epub 2012 Sep 10. PMID: 22964633.

54) Friborg J Jr, Kong W, Hottiger MO, Nabel GJ. p53 inhibition by the LANA protein of KSHV protects against cell death. Nature. 1999 Dec 23-30;402(6764):889-94. doi: 10.1038/47266. PMID: 10622254.

55) Abend JR, Uldrick T, Ziegelbauer JM. Regulation of tumor necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis receptor protein (TWEAKR) expression by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus microRNA prevents TWEAK-induced apoptosis and inflammatory cytokine expression. J Virol. 2010 Dec;84(23):12139-51. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00884-10. Epub 2010 Sep 15. PMID: 20844036; PMCID: PMC2976403.

56) Kim YJ, Kim Y, Kumar A, Kim CW, Toth Z, Cho NH, Lee HR. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen dysregulates expression of MCL-1 by targeting FBW7. PLoS Pathog. 2021 Jan 20;17(1):e1009179. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009179. PMID: 33471866; PMCID: PMC7816990.

57) Young L, Alfieri C, Hennessy K, Evans H, O'Hara C, Anderson KC, Ritz J, Shapiro RS, Rickinson A, Kieff E, et al. Expression of Epstein-Barr virus transformation-associated genes in tissues of patients with EBV lymphoproliferative disease. N Engl J Med. 1989 Oct 19;321(16):1080-5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198910193211604. PMID: 2552313.

58) Hamilton-Dutoit SJ, Rea D, Raphael M, Sandvej K, Delecluse HJ, Gisselbrecht C, Marelle L, van Krieken HJ, Pallesen G. Epstein-Barr virus-latent gene expression and tumor cell phenotype in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Correlation of lymphoma phenotype with three distinct patterns of viral latency. Am J Pathol. 1993 Oct;143(4):1072-85. PMID: 8214003; PMCID: PMC1887058.

59) Rowe M, Rowe DT, Gregory CD, Young LS, Farrell PJ, Rupani H, Rickinson AB. Differences in B cell growth phenotype reflect novel patterns of Epstein-Barr virus latent gene expression in Burkitt's lymphoma cells. EMBO J. 1987 Sep;6(9):2743-51. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1987.tb02568.x. PMID: 2824192; PMCID: PMC553698.

60) Horenstein MG, Nador RG, Chadburn A, Hyjek EM, Inghirami G, Knowles DM, Cesarman E. Epstein-Barr virus latent gene expression in primary effusion lymphomas containing Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus-8. Blood. 1997 Aug 1;90(3):1186-91. PMID: 9242551.

61) Szekely L, Chen F, Teramoto N, Ehlin-Henriksson B, Pokrovskaja K, Szeles A, Manneborg-Sandlund A, Löwbeer M, Lennette ET, Klein G. Restricted expression of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded, growth transformation-associated antigens in an EBV- and human herpesvirus type 8-carrying body cavity lymphoma line. J Gen Virol. 1998 Jun;79 (Pt 6):1445-52. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-79-6-1445. Erratum in: J Gen Virol 1998 Nov;79(Pt 11):2875. PMID: 9634087.

62) Dresang, L.R., Teuton, J.R., Feng, H. et al. Coupled transcriptome and proteome analysis of human lymphotropic tumor viruses: insights on the detection and discovery of viral genes. BMC Genomics 12, 625 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-12-625

63) Westhoff Smith D, Sugden B. Potential cellular functions of Epstein-Barr Nuclear Antigen 1 (EBNA1) of Epstein-Barr Virus. Viruses. 2013 Jan 16;5(1):226-40. doi: 10.3390/v5010226. PMID: 23325328; PMCID: PMC3564119.

64) O'Nions J, Turner A, Craig R, Allday MJ. Epstein-Barr virus selectively deregulates DNA damage responses in normal B cells but has no detectable effect on regulation of the tumor suppressor p53. J Virol. 2006 Dec;80(24):12408-13. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01363-06. Epub 2006 Sep 20. PMID: 16987979; PMCID: PMC1676261.

65) Vereide DT, Seto E, Chiu YF, Hayes M, Tagawa T, Grundhoff A, Hammerschmidt W, Sugden B. Epstein-Barr virus maintains lymphomas via its miRNAs. Oncogene. 2014 Mar 6;33(10):1258-64. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.71. Epub 2013 Mar 18. PMID: 23503461; PMCID: PMC3690170.

66) Pearson GR, Luka J, Petti L, Sample J, Birkenbach M, Braun D, Kieff E. Identification of an Epstein-Barr virus early gene encoding a second component of the restricted early antigen complex. Virology. 1987 Sep;160(1):151-61. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(87)90055-9. PMID: 2820125.

67) Brinkmann MM, Schulz TF. Regulation of intracellular signalling by the terminal membrane proteins of members of the Gammaherpesvirinae. J Gen Virol. 2006 May;87(Pt 5):1047-1074. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.81598-0. PMID: 16603506.

68) Pratt ZL, Zhang J, Sugden B. The latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) oncogene of Epstein-Barr virus can simultaneously induce and inhibit apoptosis in B cells. J Virol. 2012 Apr;86(8):4380-93. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06966-11. Epub 2012 Feb 8. PMID: 22318153; PMCID: PMC3318665.

69) Price AM, Dai J, Bazot Q, Patel L, Nikitin PA, Djavadian R, Winter PS, Salinas CA, Barry AP, Wood KC, Johannsen EC, Letai A, Allday MJ, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus ensures B cell survival by uniquely modulating apoptosis at early and late times after infection. Elife. 2017 Apr 20;6:e22509. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22509. PMID: 28425914; PMCID: PMC5425254.

70) Anderton E, Yee J, Smith P, Crook T, White RE, Allday MJ. Two Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) oncoproteins cooperate to repress expression of the proapoptotic tumour-suppressor Bim: clues to the pathogenesis of Burkitt's lymphoma. Oncogene. 2008 Jan 17;27(4):421-33. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210668. Epub 2007 Jul 23. PMID: 17653091.

71) Garibal J, Hollville E, Bell AI, Kelly GL, Renouf B, Kawaguchi Y, Rickinson AB, Wiels J. Truncated form of the Epstein-Barr virus protein EBNA-LP protects against caspasedependent apoptosis by inhibiting protein phosphatase 2A. J Virol. 2007 Jul;81(14):7598-607. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02435-06. Epub 2007 May 9. PMID: 17494066; PMCID: PMC1933342.

72) Kennedy G, Komano J, Sugden B. Epstein-Barr virus provides a survival factor to Burkitt's lymphomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Nov 25;100(24):14269-74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2336099100. Epub 2003 Nov 5. PMID: 14603034; PMCID: PMC283581.

73) Shimizu N, Yoshiyama H, Takada K. Clonal propagation of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) recombinants in EBV-negative Akata cells. J Virol. 1996 Oct;70(10):7260-3. doi: 10.1128/JVI.70.10.7260-7263.1996. PMID: 8794379; PMCID: PMC190785.

74) Dunham D, Viswanathan P, Gill J, Manzano M. Expression Ratios of the Antiapoptotic BCL2 Family Members Dictate the Selective Addiction of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus-Transformed Primary Effusion Lymphoma Cell Lines to MCL1. J Virol. 2022 Dec 14;96(23):e0136022. doi: 10.1128/jvi.01360-22. Epub 2022 Nov 23. PMID: 36416587; PMCID: PMC9749474.

75) Manzano M, Patil A, Waldrop A, Dave SS, Behdad A, Gottwein E. Gene essentiality landscape and druggable oncogenic dependencies in herpesviral primary effusion lymphoma. Nat Commun. 2018 Aug 15;9(1):3263. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05506-9. PMID: 30111820; PMCID: PMC6093911.

76) Quentmeier H, Geffers R, Hauer V, Nagel S, Pommerenke C, Uphoff CC, Zaborski M, Drexler HG. Inhibition of MCL1 induces apoptosis in anaplastic large cell lymphoma and in primary effusion lymphoma. Sci Rep. 2022 Jan 20;12(1):1085. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-04916-6. PMID: 35058488; PMCID: PMC8776734.

77) Mesri EA, Cesarman E, Boshoff C. Kaposi's sarcoma and its associated herpesvirus. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010 Oct;10(10):707-19. doi: 10.1038/nrc2888. PMID: 20865011; PMCID: PMC4721662. 78) Price AM, Luftig MA. Dynamic Epstein-Barr virus gene expression on the path to B-cell transformation. Adv Virus Res. 2014;88:279-313. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800098-4.00006-4. PMID: 24373315; PMCID: PMC4911173.

79) Hu Z, Pan Z, Chen W, Shi Y, Wang W, Yuan J, Wang E, Zhang S, Kurt H, Mai B, Zhang X, Liu H, Rios AA, Ma HY, Nguyen ND, Medeiros LJ, Hu S. Primary Effusion Lymphoma: A Clinicopathological Study of 70 Cases. Cancers (Basel). 2021 Feb 19;13(4):878. doi: 10.3390/cancers13040878. PMID: 33669719; PMCID: PMC7922633.

80) Mitsiogianni M, Koutsidis G, Mavroudis N, Trafalis DT, Botaitis S, Franco R, Zoumpourlis V, Amery T, Galanis A, Pappa A, Panayiotidis MI. The Role of Isothiocyanates as Cancer Chemo-Preventive, Chemo-Therapeutic and Anti-Melanoma Agents. Antioxidants (Basel). 2019 Apr 18;8(4):106. doi: 10.3390/antiox8040106. PMID: 31003534; PMCID: PMC6523696.

### Chapter II. Material and methods

1) Nonkwelo C, Ruf IK, Sample J. Interferon-independent and -induced regulation of Epstein-Barr virus EBNA-1 gene transcription in Burkitt lymphoma. J Virol. 1997 Sep;71(9):6887-97. doi: 10.1128/JVI.71.9.6887-6897.1997. PMID: 9261415; PMCID: PMC191971.

2) Ruf IK, Rhyne PW, Yang H, Borza CM, Hutt-Fletcher LM, Cleveland JL, Sample JT. Epstein-barr virus regulates c-MYC, apoptosis, and tumorigenicity in Burkitt lymphoma. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 Mar;19(3):1651-60. doi: 10.1128/MCB.19.3.1651. PMID: 10022853; PMCID: PMC83959.

3) Pizzo PA, Magrath IT, Chattopadhyay SK, Biggar RJ, Gerber P. A new tumour-derived transforming strain of Epstein-Barr virus. Nature. 1978 Apr 13;272(5654):629-31. doi: 10.1038/272629a0. PMID: 205793.

4) Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods. 2001 Dec;25(4):402-8. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262. PMID: 11846609.

### Chapter III. Characterizing anti-apoptotic pathways in PELs and PEL-LCs

1. Cesarman E, Moore PS, Rao PH, Inghirami G, Knowles DM, Chang Y. In vitro establishment and characterization of two acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related lymphoma cell lines (BC-1 and BC-2) containing Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like (KSHV) DNA sequences. Blood. 1995 Oct 1;86(7):2708-14. PMID: 7670109.

2. Faure A, Hayes M, Sugden B. How Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stably transforms peripheral B cells towards lymphomagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019 Aug 13;116(33):16519-16528. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1905025116. Epub 2019 Jul 30. PMID: 31363046; PMCID: PMC6697783.

3. Cory S, Huang DC, Adams JM. The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene. 2003 Nov 24;22(53):8590-607. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207102. PMID: 14634621.

4. Youle, R.J. and Strasser, A. (2008) The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 47–59 https://doi. org/10.1038/nrm2308

5. Manzano, M., Patil, A., Waldrop, A. et al. Gene essentiality landscape and druggable oncogenic dependencies in herpesviral primary effusion lymphoma. Nat Commun 9, 3263 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05506-9

6. Dunham D, Viswanathan P, Gill J, Manzano M. Expression Ratios of the Antiapoptotic BCL2 Family Members Dictate the Selective Addiction of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus-Transformed Primary Effusion Lymphoma Cell Lines to MCL1. J Virol. 2022 Dec 14;96(23):e0136022. doi: 10.1128/jvi.01360-22. Epub 2022 Nov 23. PMID: 36416587; PMCID: PMC9749474.

7. Nonkwelo C, Ruf IK, Sample J. Interferon-independent and -induced regulation of Epstein-Barr virus EBNA-1 gene transcription in Burkitt lymphoma. J Virol. 1997 Sep;71(9):6887-97. doi: 10.1128/JVI.71.9.6887-6897.1997. PMID: 9261415; PMCID: PMC191971.

8. Ruf IK, Rhyne PW, Yang H, Borza CM, Hutt-Fletcher LM, Cleveland JL, Sample JT. Epstein-barr virus regulates c-MYC, apoptosis, and tumorigenicity in Burkitt lymphoma. Mol Cell Biol. 1999 Mar;19(3):1651-60. doi: 10.1128/MCB.19.3.1651. PMID: 10022853; PMCID: PMC83959.

9. Pizzo PA, Magrath IT, Chattopadhyay SK, Biggar RJ, Gerber P. A new tumour-derived transforming strain of Epstein-Barr virus. Nature. 1978 Apr 13;272(5654):629-31. doi: 10.1038/272629a0. PMID: 205793.

10. Quentmeier H, Geffers R, Hauer V, Nagel S, Pommerenke C, Uphoff CC, Zaborski M, Drexler HG. Inhibition of MCL1 induces apoptosis in anaplastic large cell lymphoma and in primary effusion lymphoma. Sci Rep. 2022 Jan 20;12(1):1085. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-04916-6. PMID: 35058488; PMCID: PMC8776734.

11. Derenne S, Monia B, Dean NM, Taylor JK, Rapp MJ, Harousseau JL, Bataille R, Amiot M. Antisense strategy shows that Mcl-1 rather than Bcl-2 or Bcl-x(L) is an essential survival protein of human myeloma cells. Blood. 2002 Jul 1;100(1):194-9. doi: 10.1182/blood.v100.1.194. PMID: 12070027.

12. Al-Zebeeby A, Vogler M, Milani M, Richards C, Alotibi A, Greaves G, Dyer MJS, Cohen GM, Varadarajan S. Targeting intermediary metabolism enhances the efficacy of BH3 mimetic therapy in hematologic malignancies. Haematologica. 2019 May;104(5):1016-1025. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.204701. Epub 2018 Nov 22. PMID: 30467206; PMCID: PMC6518917.

13. Xia S, Rosen EM, Laterra J. Sensitization of glioma cells to Fas-dependent apoptosis by chemotherapy-induced oxidative stress. Cancer Res. 2005 Jun 15;65(12):5248-55. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4332. PMID: 15958570.

14. D'Aguanno S, Del Bufalo D. Inhibition of Anti-Apoptotic Bcl-2 Proteins in Preclinical and Clinical Studies: Current Overview in Cancer. Cells. 2020 May 21;9(5):1287. doi: 10.3390/cells9051287. PMID: 32455818; PMCID: PMC7291206.

15. Anderson NM, Harrold I, Mansour MR, Sanda T, McKeown M, Nagykary N, Bradner JE, Lan Zhang G, Look AT, Feng H. BCL2-specific inhibitor ABT-199 synergizes strongly with cytarabine against the early immature LOUCY cell line but not more-differentiated T-ALL cell lines. Leukemia. 2014 May;28(5):1145-8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.377. Epub 2013 Dec 17. PMID: 24342948; PMCID: PMC4013222.

16. Pratt ZL, Zhang J, Sugden B. The latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) oncogene of Epstein-Barr virus can simultaneously induce and inhibit apoptosis in B cells. J Virol. 2012 Apr;86(8):4380-93. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06966-11. Epub 2012 Feb 8. PMID: 22318153; PMCID: PMC3318665.

17. Price AM, Dai J, Bazot Q, Patel L, Nikitin PA, Djavadian R, Winter PS, Salinas CA, Barry AP, Wood KC, Johannsen EC, Letai A, Allday MJ, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus ensures B cell survival by uniquely modulating apoptosis at early and late times after infection. Elife. 2017 Apr 20;6:e22509. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22509. PMID: 28425914; PMCID: PMC5425254.

18. Myoung J, Ganem D. Generation of a doxycycline-inducible KSHV producer cell line of endothelial origin: maintenance of tight latency with efficient reactivation upon induction. J Virol Methods. 2011 Jun;174(1-2):12-21. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.03.012. Epub 2011 Mar 17. PMID: 21419799; PMCID: PMC3095772.

19. Renne R, Blackbourn D, Whitby D, Levy J, Ganem D. Limited transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 1998 Jun;72(6):5182-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.6.5182-5188.1998. PMID: 9573290; PMCID: PMC110093.

20. Bechtel JT, Liang Y, Hvidding J, Ganem D. Host range of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 2003 Jun;77(11):6474-81. doi: 10.1128/jvi.77.11.6474-6481.2003. PMID: 12743304; PMCID: PMC155009.

21. Blackbourn DJ, Lennette E, Klencke B, Moses A, Chandran B, Weinstein M, Glogau RG, Witte MH, Way DL, Kutzkey T, Herndier B, Levy JA. The restricted cellular host range of human herpesvirus 8. AIDS. 2000 Jun 16;14(9):1123-33. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200006160-00009. PMID: 10894276.

22. Moss DJ, Pope JH. Assay of the infectivity of Epstein-Barr virus by transformation of human leucocytes in vitro. J Gen Virol. 1972 Nov;17(2):233-6. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-17-2-233. PMID: 4344316.

23. Sugden B, Mark W. Clonal transformation of adult human leukocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol. 1977 Sep;23(3):503-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.23.3.503 508.1977. PMID: 197258; PMCID: PMC515860.

24. Mack AA, Sugden B. EBV is necessary for proliferation of dually infected primary effusion lymphoma cells. Cancer Res. 2008 Sep 1;68(17):6963-8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0627. PMID: 18757410; PMCID: PMC2587434.

25. Godfrey A, Anderson J, Papanastasiou A, Takeuchi Y, Boshoff C. Inhibiting primary effusion lymphoma by lentiviral vectors encoding short hairpin RNA. Blood. 2005 Mar 15;105(6):2510-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3052. Epub 2004 Nov 30. PMID: 15572586.

26. Guasparri I, Keller SA, Cesarman E. Retraction: KSHV vFLIP Is Essential for the Survival of Infected Lymphoma Cells. J Exp Med. 2021 Mar 1;218(3):jem.2003146702062021r. doi: 10.1084/jem.2003146702062021r. PMID: 33599700; PMCID: PMC7927431.

27. Bélanger C, Gravel A, Tomoiu A, Janelle ME, Gosselin J, Tremblay MJ, Flamand L. Human herpesvirus 8 viral FLICE-inhibitory protein inhibits Fas-mediated apoptosis through binding and prevention of procaspase-8 maturation. J Hum Virol. 2001 Mar-Apr;4(2):62-73. PMID: 11437316.

28. Djerbi M, Screpanti V, Catrina AI, Bogen B, Biberfeld P, Grandien A. The inhibitor of death receptor signaling, FLICE-inhibitory protein defines a new class of tumor progression factors. J Exp Med. 1999 Oct 4;190(7):1025-32. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.7.1025. PMID: 10510092; PMCID: PMC2195646.

29. Rivas C, Thlick AE, Parravicini C, Moore PS, Chang Y. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus LANA2 is a B-cell-specific latent viral protein that inhibits p53. J Virol. 2001 Jan;75(1):429-38. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.1.429-438.2001. PMID: 11119611; PMCID: PMC113935.

30. Baresova P, Musilova J, Pitha PM, Lubyova B. p53 tumor suppressor protein stability and transcriptional activity are targeted by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-encoded viral interferon regulatory factor 3. Mol Cell Biol. 2014 Feb;34(3):386-99. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01011-13. Epub 2013 Nov 18. PMID: 24248600; PMCID: PMC3911520.

31. Wies E, Mori Y, Hahn A, Kremmer E, Stürzl M, Fleckenstein B, Neipel F. The viral interferon-regulatory factor-3 is required for the survival of KSHV-infected primary effusion

lymphoma cells. Blood. 2008 Jan 1;111(1):320-7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-05-092288. Epub 2007 Sep 21. PMID: 17890449.

32. Santag S, Jäger W, Karsten CB, Kati S, Pietrek M, Steinemann D, Sarek G, Ojala PM, Schulz TF. Recruitment of the tumour suppressor protein p73 by Kaposi's Sarcoma Herpesvirus latent nuclear antigen contributes to the survival of primary effusion lymphoma cells. Oncogene. 2013 Aug 8;32(32):3676-85. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.385. Epub 2012 Sep 10. PMID: 22964633.

33. Kim YJ, Kim Y, Kumar A, Kim CW, Toth Z, Cho NH, Lee HR. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen dysregulates expression of MCL-1 by targeting FBW7. PLoS Pathog. 2021 Jan 20;17(1):e1009179. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009179. PMID: 33471866; PMCID: PMC7816990.

34. Westhoff Smith D, Sugden B. Potential cellular functions of Epstein-Barr Nuclear Antigen 1 (EBNA1) of Epstein-Barr Virus. Viruses. 2013 Jan 16;5(1):226-40. doi: 10.3390/v5010226. PMID: 23325328; PMCID: PMC3564119.

35. O'Nions J, Turner A, Craig R, Allday MJ. Epstein-Barr virus selectively deregulates DNA damage responses in normal B cells but has no detectable effect on regulation of the tumor suppressor p53. J Virol. 2006 Dec;80(24):12408-13. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01363-06. Epub 2006 Sep 20. PMID: 16987979; PMCID: PMC1676261.

36. Vereide DT, Seto E, Chiu YF, Hayes M, Tagawa T, Grundhoff A, Hammerschmidt W, Sugden B. Epstein-Barr virus maintains lymphomas via its miRNAs. Oncogene. 2014 Mar 6;33(10):1258-64. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.71. Epub 2013 Mar 18. PMID: 23503461; PMCID: PMC3690170.

37. Pearson GR, Luka J, Petti L, Sample J, Birkenbach M, Braun D, Kieff E. Identification of an Epstein-Barr virus early gene encoding a second component of the restricted early antigen complex. Virology. 1987 Sep;160(1):151-61. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(87)90055-9. PMID: 2820125.

## Chapter IV. Assessing the roles of antiapoptotic proteins detected in Chapter III in PELs and PEL-LCs

1. Choi SS, Park IC, Yun JW, Sung YC, Hong SI, Shin HS. A novel Bcl-2 related gene, Bfl-1, is overexpressed in stomach cancer and preferentially expressed in bone marrow. Oncogene 1995; 11: 1693–1698.

2. D'Sa-Eipper, C. and Subramanian, T. (1996) Chinnadurai G. bfl-1, a bcl-2 homologue, suppresses p53-induced apoptosis and exhibits potent cooperative transforming activity. Cancer Res. 56, 3879–3882 PMID:8752150.

3. Morales AA, Olsson A, Celsing F, Osterborg A, Jondal M, Osorio LM. High expression of bfl-1 contributes to the apoptosis resistant phenotype in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Int J Cancer. 2005 Feb 20;113(5):730-7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.20614. PMID: 15499630.

4. Olsson A, Norberg M, Okvist A, Derkow K, Choudhury A, Tobin G, Celsing F, Osterborg A, Rosenquist R, Jondal M, Osorio LM. Upregulation of bfl-1 is a potential mechanism of chemoresistance in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Cancer. 2007 Sep 17;97(6):769-77. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603951. Epub 2007 Aug 28. PMID: 17726463; PMCID: PMC2360383.

5. Vogler M, Butterworth M, Majid A, Walewska RJ, Sun XM, Dyer MJ, Cohen GM. Concurrent up-regulation of BCL-XL and BCL2A1 induces approximately 1000-fold resistance to ABT-737 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2009 Apr 30;113(18):4403-13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-08-173310. Epub 2008 Nov 13. PMID: 19008458. 6. Nagy B, Lundan T, Larramendy ML, Aalto Y, Zhu Y, Niini T et al. Abnormal expression of apoptosis-related genes in haematological malignancies: overexpression of MYC is poor prognostic sign in mantle cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol 2003; 120: 434–441.

7. Wang G, Diepstraten ST, Herold MJ. Last but not least: BFL-1 as an emerging target for anti-cancer therapies. Biochem Soc Trans. 2022 Aug 31;50(4):1119-1128. doi: 10.1042/BST20220153. PMID: 35900226; PMCID: PMC9444066.

8. Simmons MJ, Fan G, Zong WX, Degenhardt K, White E, Gélinas C. Bfl-1/A1 functions, similar to Mcl-1, as a selective tBid and Bak antagonist. Oncogene. 2008 Feb 28;27(10):1421-8. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210771. Epub 2007 Sep 3. PMID: 17724464; PMCID: PMC2880719.

9. Desagher S, Osen-Sand A, Nichols A, Eskes R, Montessuit S, Lauper S, Maundrell K, Antonsson B, Martinou JC. Bid-induced conformational change of Bax is responsible for mitochondrial cytochrome c release during apoptosis. J Cell Biol. 1999 Mar 8;144(5):891-901. doi: 10.1083/jcb.144.5.891. PMID: 10085289; PMCID: PMC2148190.

10. Werner AB, de Vries E, Tait SW, Bontjer I, Borst J. Bcl-2 family member Bfl-1/A1 sequesters truncated bid to inhibit is collaboration with pro-apoptotic Bak or Bax. J Biol Chem. 2002 Jun 21;277(25):22781-8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M201469200. Epub 2002 Apr 19. PMID: 11929871.

11. Alerasool N, Segal D, Lee H, Taipale M. An efficient KRAB domain for CRISPRi applications in human cells. Nat Methods. 2020 Nov;17(11):1093-1096. doi: 10.1038/s41592-020-0966-x. Epub 2020 Oct 5. PMID: 33020655.

 Larson MH, Gilbert LA, Wang X, Lim WA, Weissman JS, Qi LS. CRISPR interference (CRISPRi) for sequence-specific control of gene expression. Nat Protoc. 2013 Nov;8(11):2180-96. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2013.132. Epub 2013 Oct 17. PMID: 24136345; PMCID: PMC3922765.
Ecco, G., Imbeault, M. & Trono, D. KRAB zinc finger proteins. Development 144, 2719– 2729 (2017)

14. Kumar J, Kaur G, Ren R, Lu Y, Lin K, Li J, Huang Y, Patel A, Barton MC, Macfarlan T, Zhang X, Cheng X. KRAB domain of ZFP568 disrupts TRIM28-mediated abnormal interactions in cancer cells. NAR Cancer. 2020 Jun;2(2):zcaa007. doi: 10.1093/narcan/zcaa007. Epub 2020 May 18. PMID: 32743551; PMCID: PMC7380489.

15. Jackson, A., Linsley, P. Recognizing and avoiding siRNA off-target effects for target identification and therapeutic application. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9, 57–67 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3010

16. Rao DD, Vorhies JS, Senzer N, Nemunaitis J. siRNA vs. shRNA: similarities and differences. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009 Jul 25;61(9):746-59. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.04.004. Epub 2009 Apr 20. PMID: 19389436.

17. Singh S, Narang AS, Mahato RI. Subcellular fate and off-target effects of siRNA, shRNA, and miRNA. Pharm Res. 2011 Dec;28(12):2996-3015. doi: 10.1007/s11095-011-0608-1. Epub 2011 Oct 28. PMID: 22033880.

18. Evers, B., Jastrzebski, K., Heijmans, J. et al. CRISPR knockout screening outperforms shRNA and CRISPRi in identifying essential genes. Nat Biotechnol 34, 631–633 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3536

19. Dai J, SoRelle ED, Heckenberg E, Song L, Cable JM, Crawford GE, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus induces germinal center light zone chromatin architecture and promotes survival through enhancer looping at the BCL2A1 locus. mBio. 2023 Dec 7:e0244423. doi: 10.1128/mbio.02444-23. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 38059622.

20. Katti, A., Diaz, B.J., Caragine, C.M. et al. CRISPR in cancer biology and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 22, 259–279 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-022-00441-w

21. Qi LS, Larson MH, Gilbert LA, Doudna JA, Weissman JS, Arkin AP, Lim WA. 2013. Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequence-specific control of gene expression. Cell 152:1173–1183.

22. Gilbert LA, Larson MH, Morsut L, Liu Z, Brar GA, Torres SE, Stern-Ginossar N, Brandman O, Whitehead EH, Doudna JA, Lim WA, Weissman JS, Qi LS. 2013. CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. Cell 154:442–451.

23. Sanson KR, Hanna RE, Hegde M, Donovan KF, Strand C, Sullender ME, Vaimberg EW, Goodale A, Root DE, Piccioni F, Doench JG. 2018. Optimized libraries for CRISPR-Cas9 genetic screens with multiple modalities. Nat Commun 9:5416.

24. Price AM, Dai J, Bazot Q, Patel L, Nikitin PA, Djavadian R, Winter PS, Salinas CA, Barry AP, Wood KC, Johannsen EC, Letai A, Allday MJ, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus ensures B cell survival by uniquely modulating apoptosis at early and late times after infection. Elife. 2017 Apr 20;6:e22509. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22509. PMID: 28425914; PMCID: PMC5425254.

## Chapter V. Discussion and future directions

1) Nador RG, Cesarman E, Chadburn A, Dawson DB, Ansari MQ, Sald J, Knowles DM. Primary effusion lymphoma: a distinct clinicopathologic entity associated with the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus. Blood. 1996 Jul 15;88(2):645-56. PMID: 8695812.

2) WHO-Classification-of-Tumours-Editorial-Board, editor. Thoracic Tumours, WHO classification of tumours series. 5th ed. Lyon: IRAC; 2021.

3) WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues / edited by Steven H. Swerdlow, Elias Campo, Nancy Lee Harris, Elaine S. Jaffe, Stefano A. Pileri, Harald Stein, Jurgen Thiele. - Revised 4th edition.

4) Myoung J, Ganem D. Generation of a doxycycline-inducible KSHV producer cell line of endothelial origin: maintenance of tight latency with efficient reactivation upon induction. J Virol Methods. 2011 Jun;174(1-2):12-21. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.03.012. Epub 2011 Mar 17. PMID: 21419799; PMCID: PMC3095772.

5) Renne R, Blackbourn D, Whitby D, Levy J, Ganem D. Limited transmission of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 1998 Jun;72(6):5182-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.72.6.5182-5188.1998. PMID: 9573290; PMCID: PMC110093.

6) Bechtel JT, Liang Y, Hvidding J, Ganem D. Host range of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in cultured cells. J Virol. 2003 Jun;77(11):6474-81. doi: 10.1128/jvi.77.11.6474-6481.2003. PMID: 12743304; PMCID: PMC155009.

7) Blackbourn DJ, Lennette E, Klencke B, Moses A, Chandran B, Weinstein M, Glogau RG, Witte MH, Way DL, Kutzkey T, Herndier B, Levy JA. The restricted cellular host range of human herpesvirus 8. AIDS. 2000 Jun 16;14(9):1123-33. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200006160-00009. PMID: 10894276.

8) Moss DJ, Pope JH. Assay of the infectivity of Epstein-Barr virus by transformation of human leucocytes in vitro. J Gen Virol. 1972 Nov;17(2):233-6. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-17-2-233. PMID: 4344316.

9) Sugden B, Mark W. Clonal transformation of adult human leukocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. J Virol. 1977 Sep;23(3):503-8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.23.3.503-508.1977. PMID: 197258; PMCID: PMC515860.

10) Mack AA, Sugden B. EBV is necessary for proliferation of dually infected primary effusion lymphoma cells. Cancer Res. 2008 Sep 1;68(17):6963-8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0627. PMID: 18757410; PMCID: PMC2587434.

11) Faure A, Hayes M, Sugden B. How Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus stably transforms peripheral B cells towards lymphomagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019 Aug 13;116(33):16519-16528. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1905025116. Epub 2019 Jul 30. PMID: 31363046; PMCID: PMC6697783.

12) Brien G, Trescol-Biemont MC, Bonnefoy-Bérard N. Downregulation of Bfl-1 protein expression sensitizes malignant B cells to apoptosis. Oncogene. 2007 Aug

13) Dunham D, Viswanathan P, Gill J, Manzano M. Expression Ratios of the Antiapoptotic BCL2 Family Members Dictate the Selective Addiction of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus-Transformed Primary Effusion Lymphoma Cell Lines to MCL1. J Virol. 2022 Dec 14;96(23):e0136022. doi: 10.1128/jvi.01360-22. Epub 2022 Nov 23. PMID: 36416587; PMCID: PMC9749474.

14) Manzano M, Patil A, Waldrop A, Dave SS, Behdad A, Gottwein E. Gene essentiality landscape and druggable oncogenic dependencies in herpesviral primary effusion lymphoma. Nat Commun. 2018 Aug 15;9(1):3263. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05506-9. PMID: 30111820; PMCID: PMC6093911.

15) Quentmeier H, Geffers R, Hauer V, Nagel S, Pommerenke C, Uphoff CC, Zaborski M, Drexler HG. Inhibition of MCL1 induces apoptosis in anaplastic large cell lymphoma and in primary effusion lymphoma. Sci Rep. 2022 Jan 20;12(1):1085. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-04916-6. PMID: 35058488; PMCID: PMC8776734.

16) Pratt ZL, Zhang J, Sugden B. The latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) oncogene of Epstein-Barr virus can simultaneously induce and inhibit apoptosis in B cells. J Virol. 2012 Apr;86(8):4380-93. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06966-11. Epub 2012 Feb 8. PMID: 22318153; PMCID: PMC3318665.

17) Price AM, Dai J, Bazot Q, Patel L, Nikitin PA, Djavadian R, Winter PS, Salinas CA, Barry AP, Wood KC, Johannsen EC, Letai A, Allday MJ, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus ensures B cell survival by uniquely modulating apoptosis at early and late times after infection. Elife. 2017 Apr 20;6:e22509. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22509. PMID: 28425914; PMCID: PMC5425254.

18) Dai J, SoRelle ED, Heckenberg E, Song L, Cable JM, Crawford GE, Luftig MA. Epstein-Barr virus induces germinal center light zone chromatin architecture and promotes survival through enhancer looping at the BCL2A1 locus. mBio. 2023 Dec 7:e0244423. doi: 10.1128/mbio.02444-23. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 38059622.

19) Konermann S, Lotfy P, Brideau NJ, Oki J, Shokhirev MN, Hsu PD. Transcriptome Engineering with RNA-Targeting Type VI-D CRISPR Effectors. Cell. 2018 Apr 19;173(3):665-676.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.033. Epub 2018 Mar 15. PMID: 29551272; PMCID: PMC5910255.

20) Lee DY, Sugden B. The latent membrane protein 1 oncogene modifies B-cell physiology by regulating autophagy. Oncogene. 2008 May 1;27(20):2833-42. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210946. Epub 2007 Nov 26. PMID: 18037963.

21) Lam N, Sandberg ML, Sugden B. High physiological levels of LMP1 result in phosphorylation of eIF2 alpha in Epstein-Barr virus-infected cells. J Virol. 2004 Feb;78(4):1657-64. doi: 10.1128/jvi.78.4.1657-1664.2004. PMID: 14747531; PMCID: PMC369503.

22) Bhattacharjee S, Ghosh Roy S, Bose P, Saha A. Role of EBNA-3 Family Proteins in EBV Associated B-cell Lymphomagenesis. Front Microbiol. 2016 Apr 7;7:457. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00457. PMID: 27092119; PMCID: PMC4824013.